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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

(Time Noted:  10:02 a.m.) 2 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Good morning, and 3 

welcome to USTR.  I call this public hearing to 4 

order.  As you all know, this is the second day of 5 

our public hearing on GSP.  The first day, we 6 

covered worker rights issues, and this second day, 7 

we'll be covering a variety of other country 8 

eligibility issues. 9 

  This hearing was announced in a Federal 10 

Register notice, which is out.  We have copies of 11 

that out in the hall, as well as out, updated 12 

agenda.  A written transcript of this hearing should 13 

be available and placed within each of the dockets 14 

for the country practice cases within approximately 15 

two weeks of today. 16 

  As we indicated in our Federal Register 17 

notice, post-hearing briefs and statements must be 18 

submitted electronically by October 17th, 2017, via 19 

the relevant docket on the regulations.gov website.  20 

And I would note that, as noted in the Federal 21 

Register notice, each of the countries we are 22 

http://www.regulations.gov/
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considering has a separate docket, so make sure you 1 

submit things to the correct docket. 2 

  The post-hearing briefs provide an 3 

opportunity for witnesses to expand on their 4 

testimony or respond to testimony by others.   5 

  This hearing is open to the press.  Do we 6 

have any members of press here today? 7 

  (Press member speaks.) 8 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Yeah.  Good to see you 9 

again.  Thank you. 10 

  Each witness is limited to five minutes of 11 

oral testimony, summarizing or expanding on their 12 

pre-hearing briefs.  I would ask all witnesses to 13 

abide by this time limit as we have a full day of 14 

testimony and we do not want to fall behind 15 

schedule. 16 

  Following the oral testimony, the U.S. 17 

government panel will ask questions of the 18 

witnesses.  After the hearing, if you would like to 19 

provide a written response to a question asked by 20 

the panel, you may provide that in your post-hearing 21 

brief as well.   22 
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  Now I'd like to introduce the panel with 1 

us today, as I mentioned.  My name is Erland 2 

Herfindahl.  I'm the Deputy Assistant U.S. Trade 3 

Representative for GSP and the Chair of the GSP 4 

Subcommittee. 5 

  MR. KARAWA:  Good morning.  My name is 6 

Omar Karawa from the Department of Agriculture.  7 

Thank you. 8 

  MS. PAREKH:  Good morning.  My name is 9 

Doreen Parekh.  I'm from the U.S. Department of 10 

Commerce. 11 

  MS. LAURY:  Good morning.  I'm Emma Laury 12 

from the U.S. Department of Labor. 13 

  MS. SHEA:  Good morning.  My name is Ellie 14 

Shea.  I'm with the Office of Western Hemisphere 15 

here at USTR. 16 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Good morning.  I'm Carol 17 

Henninger from the Department of State. 18 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Good morning.  I'm Renee 19 

Mathieu.  I'm with the U.S. Department of Treasury. 20 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Good morning.  I'm Matt 21 

Cullinane with USAID. 22 
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   CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.  So now 1 

I'll turn it to the Government of Argentina for your 2 

statement, and perhaps you could introduce those 3 

with you today. 4 

  MS. CHAVES:  Good morning, Mr. Erland 5 

Herfindahl, Deputy Assistant U.S. Trade 6 

Representative for GSP and chair of this GSP 7 

Subcommittee, distinguished members of the panel.  I 8 

will introduce myself.  I will ask them to introduce 9 

theirself, please. 10 

  MS. GRACIA:  Good morning.  My name is 11 

Belen Gracia from the Ministry of Production of 12 

Argentina. 13 

  MR. RODRIGUEZ:  Good morning.  My name is 14 

Pablo Rodriguez Brizuela from the Embassy of 15 

Argentina in the United States. 16 

  MS. AVILA:  Good morning.  My name is 17 

Virginia Avila.  I'm the Deputy Secretary of Foreign 18 

Affairs of my state of Tucuman. 19 

  MS. CHAVES:  My name is Miriam Chaves.  I 20 

am the National Director for American Economic 21 

Integration and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and 22 
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Worship.  I will deliver this statement on behalf of 1 

the Argentine government. 2 

  In pursuit of President Macri's 3 

administration objectives, economic and financial 4 

policies, foreign trade and investment policies, and 5 

measures have been adopted to normalize the economy 6 

and deepen and expand Argentina's global economy and 7 

trade integration and attract foreign direct 8 

investment, such as settling the outstanding debt 9 

with bondholders and dismantling an extensive system 10 

of import protection, among others. 11 

  In this context, the relationship with the 12 

United States is some in priority for this 13 

Administration.  Since President Macri took office 14 

in December 2015, it has experienced great progress 15 

and tangible results on a number of fronts, such as 16 

market access, trade facilitation, and intellectual 17 

property and innovation, just to mention a few. 18 

  His approach, started just over a year 19 

ago, was reinforced after President Macri's visit to 20 

Washington, D.C., last April, when both presidents 21 

held a working meeting and consolidated their 22 
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commitment to expand trade and investments within a 1 

shared vision of a prosperous and mutually 2 

beneficial long-term relationship. 3 

  The bilateral agreements signed over the 4 

past year provide the institutional foundation for 5 

improving the trade and investment relationship 6 

between the United States and Argentina. 7 

  The TIFA Agreement, the MOU, which 8 

establishes a commercial dialogue between the U.S. 9 

Secretary of Commerce and the Argentina Minister of 10 

Productions, the agreement between the Small 11 

Business Administration and our Secretary of SME, 12 

the Tax Information Exchange Agreement, and a number 13 

of cooperation agreements reached in the fields of 14 

education, statistics, energy, and security, 15 

including this move, a comparative dialogue between 16 

the technical agencies involved in market access 17 

issues and intellectual property. 18 

  Argentina's readmission to the GSP program 19 

would constitute a critical step to warrant the 20 

creation of new trade and investment opportunities 21 

which benefits the producers and investors of both 22 
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sides. 1 

  As we already state in our first page in 2 

submission, dated December 23, 2016, and in the 3 

second one, submitted on September 12, 2017, 4 

Argentina has not only fulfilled the obligations 5 

whose noncompliance motivated its suspension from 6 

the GSP program in 2012, compliance with 7 

international arbiter hours in favor of U.S. 8 

companies, but it also met all the criteria 9 

established as conditions to be a GSP beneficiary 10 

country under the Trade Act of 1974. 11 

  On this opportunity, we will address the 12 

following points: first, that Argentina provides a 13 

reasonable access to its market; second, that 14 

Argentina has been adopting a series of measures to 15 

express in the country's intellectual property 16 

regime; third, the benefits that GSP would bring to 17 

Argentina's poorest regional economies; and fourth, 18 

the positive benefits it will entail for the U.S. 19 

economy. 20 

  Firstly, since President Macri's 21 

administration took office, Argentina has taken 22 
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concrete actions to reduce trade barriers and export 1 

program requirements in compliance with our duty 2 

obligations and goals. 3 

  Moreover, the administration is building a 4 

coherent and efficient trade system by adopting 5 

trade and services facilitation measures.  The 6 

action plan related to market access, agreed by the 7 

Argentine and the U.S. Administration, has already 8 

shown significant results. 9 

  As example is the opening of each 10 

country's market to agricultural products.  We are 11 

committed to continue on this path of cooperation 12 

for our mutual benefit. 13 

  Second, in the field of intellectual 14 

property rights, Argentina has adopted a series of 15 

significant measures to ensure its legal system 16 

complies with international best practices to 17 

improve administrative procedures and the 18 

enforcement of intellectual property law and 19 

regulations, including the dismantling of 20 

unconventional marketplaces and regulating digital 21 

piracy. 22 
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  Third, the reinstatement of the 1 

preferential treatment under GSP for Argentina will 2 

have a positive impact on the provinces which suffer 3 

from a high level of structural poverty and what job 4 

opportunities will also indirectly contribute to the 5 

fight against drug trafficking, mainly in the bulk 6 

of our country, as their economies are heavily 7 

dependent on the export of products which could 8 

highly benefit by the GSP program. 9 

  The top five export products will 10 

represent center more than 80 percent of total 11 

export from the aforementioned provinces in 2012.  12 

And 72 percent of the export were products covered 13 

by the GSP program at that time, such as copper, 14 

rice, olive oil, wine, olives, corn, beans, etc. 15 

  Furthermore, 70 percent of the total 16 

export was sent to the U.S., and in the case of the 17 

provinces Tucuman and Corrientes, La Rioja, 65 18 

percent, 85 percent, and 95 percent respectively, of 19 

the export to the U.S. market in 2012 were products 20 

included in the GSP program. 21 

  Finally, I must tell you, GSP benefits to 22 
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Argentina will have a positive effect on the U.S. 1 

economy.  Trade preference like GSP boost their U.S. 2 

manufacturers' competitiveness, help create jobs, 3 

and lower the cost of consumer goods for U.S. 4 

families. 5 

  Overall, the GSP program save U.S. 6 

companies $530 million worldwide in just the few 7 

months of 2016.  Worldwide, GSP savings grew about 8 

$40 million that same year. 9 

  Moreover, the duty-free treatment afforded 10 

to export from Argentina is, in essence, a tax break 11 

for U.S. manufacturers, who are able to source raw 12 

materials and other imports at a lower cost. 13 

  Argentina is an efficient supplier of raw 14 

materials and intermediate imports at competitive 15 

international prices.  For these products, the 16 

median of export prices of Argentina related to 17 

world prices is 100.  This means that Argentina is 18 

an efficient supplier of raw products and 19 

intermediate imports, and U.S. producers will 20 

benefit from this access to imports and raw 21 

materials at a competing price, without hurting the 22 
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local industry. 1 

  In sum, Argentina is taking critical steps 2 

toward a reorganization of its economy and its 3 

national trade and investment relationship.  After 4 

years of program isolation and poor macroeconomic 5 

management, the support of the U.S. government is 6 

crucial to achieve these goals. 7 

  The preferential tariff treatment afforded 8 

in the framework of the GSP program will decisively 9 

contribute to both our regional economies and 10 

consolidate the reform process.  Further, there will 11 

be a tangible outcome to show the Argentine people 12 

the value of a strong and constructive relationship 13 

with United States and the benefits of international 14 

trade. 15 

  We're letting our willingness to continue 16 

working together on the path of bilateral 17 

cooperation and expand our economic relationship for 18 

the benefit of our business communities and our 19 

people. 20 

  For all these reasons, we respectfully 21 

request the Subcommittee recommend the readmission 22 
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of Argentina into the GSP program to the President 1 

of the United States.   2 

  Thank you very much. 3 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you very much for 4 

your statement.  I now turn to the Under Secretary 5 

of Foreign Affairs from the Government of Tucuman 6 

for your statement, please. 7 

  MS. AVILA:  As I said, my name is Virginia 8 

Avila.  I'm the Director of International 9 

Negotiations for my state, Tucuman.  And it's an 10 

honor to be here today representing my province.  We 11 

are located at the north of Argentina.  That's 12 

around 1,000 miles from the capital city, which is 13 

Buenos Aires. 14 

  Today, I would want to talk about this 15 

troubling production sector.  I will start saying, 16 

the directors take off the sector, then the 17 

evolution of the activity and the importance for us, 18 

and then how it will help to go again into the GSP 19 

possibilities. 20 

  So the production of strawberries require 21 

a minimum investment per year of $30,000 U.S. per 22 
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hectare and demands nearly 16 persons per hectare.  1 

Therefore, manpower represents between 40 and 60 2 

percent of its productive cost. 3 

  Due to the special care, that this could 4 

mean that 40 percent of the jobs are covered by 5 

primitive manpower.  Besides, it is worth mentioning 6 

the close relationship that this industry has with 7 

others, for example, software, mechanical, logistic, 8 

plastic industry, all with this involved in that 9 

industry that directly and indirectly is hiring more 10 

than 18,000 people. 11 

  In 2002 there were 250 hectares with 12 

strawberry production in our province.  From then 13 

on, a process of growth began, stimulated by 14 

external demand market and the preferential 15 

treatment provided by the U.S. General System of 16 

Preferences. 17 

  In fact, in 2008, the production reached 18 

its highest peak, with 700 hectares, which was the 19 

maximum in the country.  And 25,000 tons were 20 

produced.  And the number of producer rise to 30 in 21 

our province, the highest in Argentina. 22 
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  At the time, the region of Tucuman was the 1 

first Argentinean producer and exporter.  Thirteen 2 

thousand tons were exported that year, and 30 3 

percent of the total was exported to the United 4 

States.  It represented incomes of more than $15 5 

million. 6 

  Therefore, at that time, Tucuman 7 

strawberries were highly competitive at the 8 

international market, which allowed the growth of 9 

this regional economy. 10 

  But unfortunately, in 2009, the industry 11 

suffered its first drawback as a consequence of 12 

international prices and the capital purchases, 13 

which had been uninterrupted till then.  The lethal 14 

stroke for the industry arrived in May 2012, when 15 

Argentina was finally suspended from the GSP. 16 

  This tax of 11.2 percent that the producer 17 

has to pay as a consequence of the loss of the GSP, 18 

together with the other internal factors, such as a 19 

higher cost of production and low competitive 20 

currency exchange, led to a great loss of 21 

competitiveness in the strawberry export market, 22 
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specifically in the United States, where our 1 

competitors, such as Mexico, Peru, and Chile, are 2 

selling without any fee. 3 

  This has not only negatively impacted the 4 

strawberry production system but also the economy of 5 

our region and the quality of the life of the 6 

population.  In 2015 less than 300 hectares of 7 

strawberries were harvested.  It means we will use 8 

58 percent of the production and 83 percent of the 9 

amount exported to the United States. 10 

  To highlight this, the impact in our 11 

region was huge.  We lost 6,400 jobs, 1,600 in 2009 12 

and 4,800 in 2015, and countless in the indirect 13 

jobs.  Incomes, which were the substances of the 14 

province, regional economy, and the families 15 

themselves were also lost. 16 

  The business productive structure, like 17 

small companies association cooperatives, which 18 

carried out this activity, were lost too.  Nowadays, 19 

only 20 percent of the strawberry producers have 20 

survived to this new reality.  The rest have left. 21 

  So the readmission of Argentina to the 22 
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U.S. GSP will have a huge impact in our region.  We 1 

are convinced that the reinstatement of the 2 

preferential treatment of Argentina under the GSP 3 

will have a positive and significant impact. 4 

  Tucuman comes today with an installed 5 

production capacity which is in the top technology.  6 

And we apply, as well, to the highest certifications 7 

quality around the world.  Resources and producers 8 

are able to provide high quality frozen strawberries 9 

for domestic and industrial purposes here, who can 10 

take great advantage from the GSP benefits, 11 

increasing production and reaching the 2008 numbers. 12 

  This possibility, together with the 13 

recovery of the international economic condition and 14 

improvement of bilateral relationship with the 15 

United States will introduce in the recovery of more 16 

than 6,000 direct jobs, and the chance to compete 17 

again in the market which represent 4,533 18 

represented in 2015.   19 

  Thank you very much. 20 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you for your 21 

statement, Ms. Avila. 22 
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  So we will now begin our questions from 1 

the U.S. government panel with Ms. Shea from USTR. 2 

  MS. SHEA:  Good morning.  And before I ask 3 

my first question, I would just like to thank you 4 

for coming this morning.  Welcome to Washington.  I 5 

know that it was a long journey for you, and it 6 

demonstrates the importance of this issue to 7 

Argentina, and we appreciate your testifying here 8 

today. 9 

  Now, my first question, I'll direct to 10 

Minister Chaves.  As you well know, we have been 11 

talking for more than a year now about intellectual 12 

property rights and the need to improve the 13 

enforcement and protection of intellectual property 14 

rights in Argentina. 15 

  And under our TIFA, our Trade and 16 

Investment Framework Agreement, which we signed in 17 

2016, we established the forum on innovation and 18 

creativity for economic development.  And in that 19 

context, we've been discussing a lot of intellectual 20 

property issues. 21 

  In your comments that you submitted on 22 
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September 12th, you mentioned several bills that 1 

have either been drafted and/or introduced into your 2 

Congress.  And I would like to know if you could 3 

provide us with an update on each of those pieces of 4 

legislation and your best assessment, if possible, 5 

on the likelihood that they will be enacted into 6 

law. 7 

  There are certainly a number of bills that 8 

were mentioned in your submission, so if you would 9 

prefer to provide this information in your post-10 

hearing submission, that would be fine.   11 

  Thank you. 12 

  MS. CHAVES:  And thank you very much for 13 

your question.  Actually, always in the context of 14 

our forum on innovation and creativity, we already 15 

submitted a very detailed table updating all the 16 

bills that are currently at Congress for being 17 

approved, hopefully this year. 18 

  There are nearly 10 to 12 bills on the 19 

way.  Just to mention the name of the bills we 20 

wrote, the bill that's regulated functioning of 21 

nonconventional markets such as La Salada, with the 22 
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objective of these markets to run enforcement of IP 1 

law and regulations with respect to the sales of 2 

product and services, with penalties in case of 3 

infringements. 4 

  There are two bills related to the 5 

amendments of the trademark law, one related to 6 

digital and cyber security and type security, the 7 

other related to the reinforcement of penalty 8 

against infringements of the trademark law, just to 9 

mention few of them. 10 

  One important amendment related to the 11 

intellectual property law that is related with the 12 

institution of a federal prosecutor for IP issues 13 

that were required, just not the amendment of the 14 

intellectual property law, but the amendment of 15 

organic law related to the establishments of federal 16 

prosecutors. 17 

  All these are in a way many things we can 18 

submit in our post-hearings, including the prospects 19 

for this being, these bills being approved by 20 

Congress.   21 

  Thank you. 22 
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  MS. SHEA:  Thank you very much. 1 

  MS. PAREKH:  Good morning, and thank you 2 

very much for your participation today. 3 

  Certain U.S. stakeholders in our 4 

pharmaceutical industry continue to raise concerns 5 

about import retesting requirements, patentability 6 

restrictions, and lack of adequate data protection 7 

in Argentina.  What steps has the Argentine 8 

government taken or what steps will you take to 9 

provide improved protection for intellectual 10 

property rights in Argentina? 11 

  MS. CHAVES:  As was summarized in our 12 

recent submissions, all the government actions and 13 

administrative initiatives are put into place with 14 

the aim to reduce delays in the review process of 15 

patent applications and to reinforce enforcements on 16 

IP law and regulations. 17 

  Regarding the specific questions you put 18 

today, we reiterate that the Argentina’s laws and 19 

regulations are in full compliance with the TRIPS 20 

Agreement regarding just data protection.  We recall 21 

the mutually agreed solutions will reach both 22 
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countries reached at the OSD of the WTO in 2002. 1 

  Should the OSD of the WTO adopt a 2 

decision, adopt a report finding that the Argentina 3 

law regarding this data protection is not in 4 

compliance with the TRIPS Agreements, the commitment 5 

of the Argentine government is to submit bills to 6 

the Congress to put our legislation in conformity. 7 

  That happened in 2012.  And since that 8 

there have been no further developments on this 9 

issue. 10 

  MS. LAURY:  Good morning, and thank you 11 

for your testimony again. 12 

  I have a question about patents.  I 13 

believe you have already mentioned that you -- your 14 

government has been working to reduce delays in 15 

patent applications.  And I'm wondering if you can 16 

describe what specific steps your government is 17 

taking to address the significant backlog in 18 

patents. 19 

  MS. CHAVES:  Thank you for your questions.  20 

This actions has been put in detail in our written 21 

submission, but my pleasure to mention some, just a 22 
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few. 1 

  The INPI, our Nation Institute for 2 

Industrial Property, has established since early 3 

last year a PPH mechanism and has signed several 4 

bilateral and also trilateral agreements to 5 

institutionalize PPH, a patent prosecutional 6 

highway, to reduce delays in the review process for 7 

patent applications. 8 

  There are other many actions taken, and of 9 

course, bilateral agreement or MOU with the USPTO.  10 

And also there are other bilateral MOU with the 11 

patent office, just Denmark, Japan, European Union, 12 

all this with the aim to reduce delays in the patent 13 

review process, just to mention some of them.   14 

  Thank you. 15 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Good morning, and thank you.  16 

Good morning, and thank you for your testimony. 17 

  In your submission, you indicate that the 18 

Ministry of Justice is working on a proposal to 19 

create a special prosecutor to focus on identifying 20 

and investigating possible infringement of 21 

intellectual properties. 22 
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  I believe we asked a question about this 1 

issue in the January hearing, and you mentioned 2 

briefly steps.  But could you go into a little more 3 

detail with regard to your progress in establishing 4 

the role of that office? 5 

  MS. CHAVES:  Yeah.  Thank you for your 6 

question. 7 

  This initiative came from the Ministry of 8 

Justice and will require actually the modifications 9 

of two law:  First, the intellectual property law, 10 

to federalize the competence of the copyrights, 11 

which nowadays correspond to ordinary courts and 12 

provinces.  That means we need to federalize 13 

copyrights competence to bring it into the hands of 14 

this initial to -- of institutionalization of IP 15 

prosecutor. 16 

  Second is step -- first, this amendment of 17 

the intellectual property law is under public 18 

comments.  There is a platform we mention in our 19 

written submissions, which is called Justicia Veinte 20 

Veinte -- Justice 2020.  It's open to public 21 

comments.  This is underway. 22 



237 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

  And the second step is, as I mentioned at 1 

the beginning, to modify the organic law related to 2 

the establishments of the structure of a federal 3 

prosecutor, which is called Ley Organica del 4 

Ministerio Publico.  We can submit more details in 5 

written post-hearing comment. 6 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you.  So by changing 7 

the organic law, you just -- is that another step to 8 

federalize the process? 9 

  MS. CHAVES:  Yes.  To add to this organic 10 

law the figure of the IP prosecutor. 11 

  MS. MATHIEU:  I see. 12 

  MS. CHAVES:  This will be easier than the 13 

first amendment that is on the way.  This is a work 14 

in progress, comments, no.  This is a work in 15 

progress comment. 16 

  MS. MATHIEU:  So basically, to create 17 

within the organic law the role? 18 

  MS. CHAVES:  This is the more, I would say 19 

the more easy steps, to create the role of the 20 

prosecutor, because it's one simple modification to 21 

the organic law, as I mentioned. 22 



238 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

  The other, it will take maybe more time 1 

because we are just not amending intellectual 2 

property law on the way I mentioned, but it complies 3 

other amendments of several provisions.  And this is 4 

open to public comment. 5 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 6 

  MS. CHAVES:  You're welcome. 7 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you for your 8 

testimony. 9 

  In your submission, you mention the 10 

announcement of several significant investments in 11 

the Argentine pharmaceutical sector by foreign 12 

companies since President Macri took office.  These 13 

investments include new production facilities, the 14 

acquisition of technological equipment, R&D 15 

projects, the development of new products and 16 

clinical trials.  Can you provide information on the 17 

status of these announced investments?  18 

  And you're welcome to respond in your 19 

post-hearing comments. 20 

  MS. CHAVES:  Yes.  Thank you very much for 21 

your question. 22 
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  This investment plans and actions that are 1 

nearly around 14, we should mention several of them, 2 

most important investment plans and actions.  We 3 

will be submitting the state of these plans of 4 

investments in our written post-hearing comments. 5 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you. 6 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you again for your 7 

testimony and participation today.  My question is 8 

related to one of the long outstanding market access 9 

issues. 10 

  As you know, access to the Argentine 11 

market for U.S. pork products has been very high, of 12 

high priority for our pork industry.  And as you are 13 

aware, during Vice President -- sorry, Pence's 14 

recent visit to Argentina, good progress was made on 15 

this issue. 16 

  However, can you outline for us, either 17 

here today or in your post-hearing comments, the 18 

remaining steps that are necessary or are required 19 

before U.S. pork producers will be able to export to 20 

Argentina, as well as the estimated time frame? 21 

  MS. CHAVES:  Thank you.  Thank you very 22 
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much for your question.  As you were aware, 1 

August 17 President Trump announces that Argentina 2 

and the U.S. has agreed to the terms to the U.S. 3 

pork enter to the Argentine market for the first 4 

time since 1992. 5 

  And nowhere else, there is here a thing 6 

from the National Arm on Health and Quality, just 7 

trying to finalize the detail for the trade to 8 

begin.  We are committed to accomplish this first 9 

important step for the U.S. exports, and we are 10 

committed to continue to incorporate it within the 11 

framework of the action, the respective action 12 

plans, to solve all the outstanding applicant trial 13 

market access issues. 14 

  MR. KARAWA:  Could you provide, probably 15 

in post-hearing, the time frame and what are the 16 

next steps or necessary steps which have to be taken 17 

to conclude this control, please? 18 

  MS. CHAVES:  Yes.  Yes, we will. 19 

  MS. SHEA:  As you know, when our 20 

presidents met in April here in Washington, they 21 

issued a joint statement recognizing the importance 22 
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of bilateral trade in agricultural products.  Our 1 

presidents directed their respective cabinets -- and 2 

that really means us -- 3 

  (Laughter.) 4 

  MS. SHEA:  -- to expeditiously chart a 5 

path forward to resolve the pending bilateral 6 

agricultural trade issues, based on scientific 7 

principles and international standards. 8 

  While renewed market access for pork is 9 

very encouraging, and as my colleague just 10 

mentioned, a very high priority for the United 11 

States, U.S. beef and poultry products remain banned 12 

from Argentina for reasons that we don't believe are 13 

justified by science or international standards. 14 

  Can you reaffirm your government's 15 

commitment to work with the United States to resolve 16 

these barriers to trade in line with the commitments 17 

that our presidents made, and in accordance with the 18 

GSP criterion that beneficiary countries offer 19 

reasonable and equitable market access? 20 

  MS. CHAVES:  Thank you very much for your 21 

questions. 22 
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  Definitely, we are committed to continue 1 

cooperating within the framework of these action 2 

plans that already identify the main agricultural 3 

outstanding issue that need to be solved for mutual 4 

benefits.   5 

  Thank you. 6 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  As you may know, we 7 

received comments from the legislature of the State 8 

of New Jersey, regarding alleged actions by YPF, an 9 

Argentine state-owned oil company, regarding the 10 

payment of certain environmental liabilities related 11 

to the cleanup of the Passaic River in New Jersey. 12 

  Is there any information the Government of 13 

Argentina can provide regarding the status of this 14 

issue? 15 

  MS. CHAVES:  Mr. Chairman, thank you for 16 

your question regarding this issue.  I should say 17 

that is a private controversy that is being 18 

addressed in U.S. courts under U.S. law.  And if you 19 

will allow me, I would like to stress that all the 20 

submissions and petitions made before this 21 

Subcommittee regarding this issue do not correspond 22 
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to the statutory criteria of the Trade Act of 1974 1 

for a country to be designated as a GSP beneficiary.   2 

  Thank you. 3 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you again.  And this 4 

question is directed to Ms. Avila. 5 

  As you had already indicated in your 6 

submission and your presentation today, we discussed 7 

the importance of GSP for agriculture product or 8 

exports from the state of Tucuman.  You also alluded 9 

to impact, direct impact on strawberries.  Could you 10 

identify other agricultural products which had 11 

direct impact because of the loss of the GSP in 12 

2012? 13 

  MS. AVILA:  Thank you for your question.  14 

May I ask you this?  Are you are talking about 15 

another agricultural products in my state? 16 

  MR. KARAWA:  Yes. 17 

  MS. AVILA:  With the GSP? 18 

  (Off microphone discussion.) 19 

  MS. AVILA:  I'm sorry.  I was asking 20 

because with regard to my province, the only one 21 

product is the strawberry for the United States.  22 
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Then there are many other national items.  She can 1 

talk about it.  I'm not the person to talk about it. 2 

  MS. CHAVES:  Yes.  So we thank you for the 3 

question. 4 

  In our recent submission, we indicated all 5 

the products that were covered in 2011.  That was 6 

the last year of the GSP benefits.  All raw 7 

products, basic products, just not agricultural 8 

products like olives or olive oil, but also bitumen, 9 

copper, this is very important. 10 

  And these products are produced in our 11 

northern, the northern region of the country, which 12 

is the purest region of Argentina. 13 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well, I'd like to thank 14 

the Government of Argentina and the Government of 15 

Tucuman Province for your participation today.  16 

You've been very helpful in answering all of our 17 

questions, and we really appreciated your statement. 18 

  So now I'd like to turn to our next panel, 19 

which is the private sector panel, if you could come 20 

forward to the podium, please. 21 

  Thank you all for coming.  We have a very 22 
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robust panel representing the private sector today.  1 

And I'd like to thank you all for participation.  I 2 

would ask that each of you keep your statements to 3 

five minutes as much as possible so that we can 4 

remain on schedule.   5 

  We will begin with Mr. Whitman, the Vice 6 

President of Government Affairs at the FMC 7 

Corporation. 8 

  MR. WHITMAN:  GSP Subcommittee members, 9 

thank you for the opportunity to testify on 10 

Argentina's request for GSP benefits.  My name is 11 

Shawn Whitman.  I'm the Vice President of Global 12 

Government Affairs for FMC Corporation. 13 

  FMC is a diversified $3.3 billion company 14 

with global market-leading positions in agriculture, 15 

chemicals, health and nutrition products, and 16 

lithium. 17 

  Headquartered in Philadelphia, FMC employs 18 

approximately 6,000 people globally.  FMC's lithium 19 

business, based in North Carolina, is a global 20 

supplier of value-added lithium products.  FMC 21 

Lithium is a leading producer of high quality 22 
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organic and inorganic lithium compounds used for 1 

energy storage, electric vehicles, fine chemicals, 2 

and polymers, as well as industrial, chemical, and 3 

construction applications. 4 

  Demand for lithium has been driven by 5 

increased use of lithium-ion batteries in 6 

applications such as hybrid-electric vehicles and 7 

all-electric vehicles.  Lithium raw materials, such 8 

as lithium carbonate and lithium chloride, are very 9 

limited supply in the U.S. 10 

  The vast majority of lithium raw materials 11 

consumed in the U.S. originate from unique deposits 12 

in the Andes Mountains, approximately 90 percent 13 

from Argentina and Chile. 14 

  FMC's domestic supply of lithium carbonate 15 

was exhausted in the 1990s.  We now source all 16 

lithium raw material needed from a wholly owned 17 

subsidiary in Argentina.  We are the longest and 18 

largest lithium producer in Argentina. 19 

  These raw materials are processed at FMC's 20 

lithium manufacturing facility in Bessemer City, 21 

North Carolina.  Approximately 300 American jobs are 22 
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directly tied to this lithium manufacturing, which 1 

results in value-added lithium products for domestic 2 

sale and for export. 3 

  Argentina's suspension from the GSP 4 

program in 2012 resulted in the imposition of a 3.7 5 

percent tariff on FMC's lithium raw material 6 

imports, raising costs and competitively 7 

disadvantaging our business. 8 

  Restoration of GSP benefits for Argentina 9 

would increase the competitiveness of FMC's U.S.-10 

manufactured lithium products versus those of 11 

offshore rivals.  Duty costs ultimately must be 12 

passed on to domestic and global customers at the 13 

risk of lost sales and manufacturing jobs here in 14 

the U.S. 15 

  Related competitiveness concern involves 16 

domestic lithium metal production.  After the 2015 17 

closure of the Coors (ph.) plant in Upstate New 18 

York, FMC's North Carolina facility became the only 19 

remaining domestic lithium metal production plant 20 

producing both catalyst grade and high purity grade 21 

metals. 22 



248 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

  The United States accounts for the largest 1 

share of global lithium metal demand, with both 2 

standard as well as strategic national security 3 

applications.  Without a stable U.S. metal 4 

production capacity, the United States will become 5 

heavily dependent on China and Russia for these 6 

critical products. 7 

  As noted in our written comments, the 8 

lithium metal is the key component of projects 9 

administered by both the Departments of Energy and 10 

Defense.  The GSP preference for raw lithium 11 

materials from Argentina would help ensure that the 12 

FMC's U.S. manufacturing in value-added lithium 13 

metal is on a level playing field with foreign 14 

competitors. 15 

  From FMC's perspective, the Government of 16 

Argentina has addressed the arbitral awards cases 17 

that were the cause of the country's suspension from 18 

the program.  In addition, the Argentine government 19 

has made great strides in improving the trade and 20 

investment environment in the country in the past 21 

year and a half. 22 
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  The elimination of costly and time-1 

consuming processes like the DEHI (ph.) permits have 2 

vastly improved the business operating climate.  The 3 

United States should recognize these developments by 4 

granting the country's request for GSP benefits. 5 

  GSP benefits would encourage further 6 

economic development and investments in the 7 

impoverished rural areas in which FMC operates, like 8 

Catamarca and Salta.  Restoring GSP benefits for 9 

Argentina would be a win for the economies of both 10 

countries. 11 

  It is wrong to view the GSP as a 12 

unilateral benefit to Argentina.  Rather, the tariff 13 

reductions are mutually beneficial, creating 14 

efficiencies that enhance Argentina's trade while 15 

also promoting U.S. manufacturing and jobs. 16 

  FMC's lithium business is a prime example 17 

of this mutual benefit.  Our operating model of 18 

importing raw materials and manufacturing value-19 

added products here in the U.S. for a global market 20 

highlights the need for ensuring cost 21 

competitiveness. 22 
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  FMC encourages the GSP Subcommittee to 1 

designate Argentina as a beneficiary country under 2 

the GSP program as soon as possible.  Thank you.  I 3 

welcome any questions you may have. 4 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.  We're going 5 

to take all the statements first and then do our 6 

questions at the end. 7 

  So thank you, Mr. Whitman.  And I would 8 

now like to turn to Mr. Ruiz for your statement, 9 

please. 10 

  MR. RUIZ:  Thank you for this opportunity, 11 

and good morning to everybody.  My name is Federico 12 

Ruiz, and I represent Molinos Rio de la Plata 13 

Company. 14 

  Molinos, it is 100 percent Argentinean 15 

company, founded in 1902, so it's over 100 years old 16 

company.  Its revenues on 2016 fiscal year was $2.6 17 

billion.  Where the majority of the business is 18 

oriented to the domestic Argentinean market, over 13 19 

percent of the revenue comes from the export 20 

business. 21 

  Between 2008 and 2011, Molinos' total 22 
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export to the U.S. represent $13.5 million, among 23 1 

different tariff, including some of our core 2 

business, like bottled wine, olive oil, and dry 3 

pasta. 4 

  During those years, Molinos exported a 5 

wide variety of product also, including rice, Yerba 6 

Mate, baking mixes, spray oil, and others.  After 7 

Argentina lost GSP status in 2012, our export to the 8 

American market dropped 57 percent, to a value of 9 

only $5.7 million. 10 

  I would like to specify a little bit more 11 

about wine business, which is the main product that 12 

we currently export to the U.S.  And I would like to 13 

say that Argentina total annual export to the U.S. 14 

value is about $300 million, which is representing 7 15 

percent of the import of wine in this market, and 16 

its rank number 4 as a country, after Italy, France, 17 

and Australia. 18 

  Between 2006 and 2013, Argentina bottled 19 

wine export to the U.S. show a great performance, 20 

moving from $19 million to 350. 21 

  After 2013, unfortunately, our export 22 
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business dropped 18 percent up to now.  The main 1 

reason of this business issues has been our internal 2 

macroeconomic problems, but the loss of our GSP 3 

status in the U.S. market has only worsened our 4 

competitiveness before other -- beside other 5 

alternatives. 6 

  Despite our ability to compete with 7 

countries mentioned before, we ask you to consider 8 

the difficult social situation we have in our 9 

country.  The wine is produced in an area called 10 

Mendoza, mainly, where the largest percentage of the 11 

workers are related to the wine industry, including 12 

over 800 wineries and over 15,000 small independent 13 

grape growers. 14 

  Finally, we believe that granting 15 

Argentina wine products to the GSP status would have 16 

a minimum fiscal impact in the U.S., similar or less 17 

than those by wine import by wine import from other 18 

countries such as Australia and Chile. 19 

  For all of these reasons stated above, we 20 

kindly ask the USTR and the U.S. government to 21 

readmit Argentina as a beneficiary of the GSP 22 
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program.   1 

  Thank you. 2 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you, Mr. Ruiz.  I 3 

now turn to Mr. Schwarz and Mr. Glick for your 4 

statement. 5 

  MR. SCHWARZ:  Good morning.  Thank you for 6 

giving us this opportunity.  My name is Jack 7 

Schwarz.  My name is Jack Schwarz, and I'm 8 

testifying today on behalf of Schuman Cheese.  I am 9 

accompanied by my legal counsel, Mr. Les Glick, of 10 

the firm of Butzel Long. 11 

  Both myself and the president of our 12 

company, Neal Schuman, are directors and former 13 

presidents of the Cheese Importers Association of 14 

America. 15 

  I'm here today to strongly urge you to 16 

recommend to the President the designation of 17 

Argentina as an eligible beneficiary country under 18 

the GSP. 19 

  Schuman Cheese is a family business, 20 

founded in 1946, headquartered in New Jersey, with 21 

operations in Illinois, Wisconsin, Nevada, New York, 22 
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and California.  Also, we started as an importer.  1 

We manufacture and process cheese in four plants in 2 

Wisconsin. 3 

  Our testimony today is as a domestic 4 

producer, importer, exporter of cheese.  We employ 5 

approximately 1,250 workers in the United States.  6 

We process, manufacture, distribute, and export a 7 

variety of cheeses.  We sell value-added retail 8 

packaged cheese, such as cheese trays.  These 9 

products involve processing by U.S. workers in U.S. 10 

plants.  You may have seen our cheese trays sold in 11 

Costco under our Cello brand.   12 

  For many years, we imported Italian-style 13 

hard cheese from Argentina.  We were the largest 14 

importer of Argentine cheese to the United States.  15 

We were able to sell these products in the U.S., due 16 

to the zero duty under GSP, at lower prices than 17 

similar cheese imported from Italy and elsewhere, 18 

giving consumers a better choice and value, 19 

assisting a developing company in competing in the 20 

U.S. market against more developing countries.  This 21 

was a win-win situation for both Argentine exporters 22 
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and U.S. consumers. 1 

  After the GSP benefits were removed from 2 

Argentina, duties were returned to non-GSP levels, 3 

going from 0 to 15 percent, plus quotas that apply 4 

when -- excuse me, even when there are no duties.  5 

And the cost to Schuman and the price to consumers 6 

removed any incentive to import these cheeses from 7 

Argentina. 8 

  The conditions that resulted in the 9 

removal of Argentina from GSP have been completely 10 

removed.  The removal of Argentina was based on one 11 

issue: its alleged failure to recognize some 12 

arbitration award.  This occurred under the prior 13 

Fernandez de Kirchner administration. 14 

  When the new President Macri was elected, 15 

he immediately addressed this issue and resolved it 16 

expeditiously.  In February 2016, the Macri 17 

administration settled outstanding arbitration 18 

claims, and then U.S. Secretary of Treasury Jacob 19 

Lew praised him, calling this resolution of the debt 20 

payment and arbitration award a testament to the sea 21 

change in policy and a product of Argentina's new 22 
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direction. 1 

  As a result of these actions, Moody raised 2 

Argentina's sovereign debt rating, and this enabled 3 

Argentina to turn to the international commercial 4 

market. 5 

  However, to date, the U.S. has taken no 6 

action to recognize or reward Argentina for 7 

resolving the very issue that caused it to be 8 

removed from GSP.  Argentina has taken other steps, 9 

encouraged by the U.S., such as the signing in March 10 

2016 of a trade and investment framework agreement 11 

known as TIFA. 12 

  These reforms have continued this year and 13 

were recently praised during his visit to Argentina 14 

by Vice President Pence, who stated, I quote, "Over 15 

the past 18 months, President Macri has taken 16 

important steps to break down barriers to growth, 17 

ease currency control, reenter global capital 18 

markets, cut import and export tariffs, modernize 19 

labor rules, and invested in much-need 20 

infrastructure. 21 

  "On behalf of the President, let me 22 
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reiterate again that the United States of America 1 

strongly supports Argentina's bid to join the OECD.  2 

Later this year, as we discussed, Argentina will 3 

host the World Trade Organization Ministerial 4 

Conference.  And next year, of course, you'll assume 5 

the G-20 presidency."  Unquote. 6 

  I don't think I can add much to the words 7 

of Vice President Pence.  I will add just one more 8 

comment.  President Trump has targeted countries 9 

that have large trade surpluses with the U.S. for 10 

various investigations and renegotiations of trade 11 

agreements.  However, the U.S. has had a positive 12 

trade surplus with Argentina.  In 2016 it was over 13 

10 billion. 14 

  Let's reward Argentina with the 15 

redesignation under GSP this year to encourage and 16 

assist the Macri government in further reforms and 17 

send a message to those elements in Argentina that 18 

want to undo these reforms.   19 

  Thank you very much. 20 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you, Mr. Schwarz. 21 

  I now turn to Mr. Senosiain for your 22 
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statement, please. 1 

  MR. SENOSIAIN:  All right.  Yes.  My name 2 

is Albert Senosiain.  I'm with the Argentine Cheese 3 

Corporation.  We are an American corporation.  We 4 

import cheese from Argentina, and that's a hard act 5 

to follow.  I think Mr. Schwarz has pretty much 6 

covered anything. 7 

  The importance for us of bringing the 8 

cheese, I think, from the U.S. is that it should 9 

bring a cost advantage to the manufacturers here, 10 

the majority of the cheese that's brought in, the 11 

hard cheese, which is a large slice from Argentina, 12 

6,400 metric tons approximately. 13 

  It's cheese that ends up going into 14 

grating, which gives jobs to the United States, 15 

brings jobs, brings people, for the imports working 16 

it, for the shipping companies, for the ports, and 17 

for obviously the U.S. manufacturers. 18 

  Everything else was very well said 19 

already, so I'm not going to go over what 20 

Mr. Schwarz said.  I would ask that Argentina be 21 

readmitted with GSP status because -- well, as he 22 
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well said in the end there, I believe the reason 1 

they were removed has been addressed, and some other 2 

questions too. 3 

  So I respectfully hope that we come to a 4 

-- thank you very much, all of you. 5 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you, 6 

Mr. Senosiain. 7 

  I now turn to Mr. Diaz for your statement. 8 

  MR. DIAZ:  Thank you very much, Chairman 9 

and panel, for this occasion for us to expand on our 10 

recent statement that we present. 11 

  On behalf of AmCham Argentina, we 12 

reiterate our support for the reinstallation and 13 

redesignation of Argentina of a beneficiary 14 

developing country under the U.S. Generalized System 15 

of Preference Products. 16 

  It's our belief that reinstallation of 17 

Argentina's GSP eligibility will help U.S. 18 

government effort to incentive, advance and sustain 19 

Argentina returns to a policy framework in keeping 20 

with its long-term economic interest and 21 

international commitments as a member in good 22 
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standing of the rule-based system. 1 

  It is our belief that the case for 2 

reinstallation of Argentina's eligibility is even 3 

stronger today than it was initially, of the review 4 

of 10 months ago.  The Government of Argentina, 5 

President Mauricio Macri has continued to move 6 

aggressively to advance market-oriented economic 7 

reform and to strengthen U.S.-Argentina bilateral 8 

ties. 9 

  We believe that continuing public and 10 

private sector dialogue between our two countries 11 

will only serve to bolster important an effort 12 

already underway.  We believe that increasing trade 13 

between the U.S. and Argentina last year is at least 14 

partially attributed to the significant improvement 15 

to the bilateral relationship since Mauricio Macri 16 

election and his government concerted effort to 17 

strengthen ties our two countries. 18 

  U.S. foods and services trade with 19 

Argentina total $24.2 billion in 2016, an increase 20 

of over 8 percent than 2015.  But U.S. export to 21 

Argentina total was $17.3 million, an increase 22 
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rapidly 5 percent year over year. 1 

  But most important is in 2016, U.S. 2 

repeated 10.5 billion goods and services trade 3 

surplus with Argentina.  And according to the 4 

Department of Commerce, you were U.S. exports of 5 

goods and services to Argentina supported an 6 

estimated 88,000 jobs in 2015, the latest data 7 

available, an increase of 6 percent over 2014 8 

estimated total. 9 

  Since Mauricio Macri took office, the 10 

AmCham and its member has witnessed this important 11 

progress for the U.S. private sector in Argentina 12 

with respect the three main key criteria for GSP 13 

eligibility: 14 

  First, tangible steps have been taken by 15 

Mauricio Macri government to reduce trade 16 

destruction investment practice and general trade 17 

and non-trade barriers.  Government-led reforms such 18 

as elimination of capital and government controls, 19 

paring government subsidies tied to agriculture and 20 

energy, and pass of a new public and private 21 

partnership law, in between others. 22 
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  Second, reform in the past 20 months has 1 

assured that U.S. business get equal and reasonable 2 

access to Argentine markets.  AmCham Argentina 3 

member have uniformly benefited from evolving 4 

reforms of import and export procedures, including 5 

elimination of import and export controls. 6 

  Third, the Argentine government has taken 7 

important steps towards enacting of reform designed 8 

to engage protection and enforcement of intellectual 9 

property rights, a benefit to U.S. innovator and 10 

content resource. 11 

  This included creation of bilateral 12 

engagement mechanism, introduction of separate 13 

congressional bills to combat piracy and digital 14 

counterfeiting.  However, the Macri government must 15 

still confront a little legacy challenge that 16 

inhibit a bill, a protection, and enforcement at 17 

both the national and the provincial level. 18 

  New regulations restricting but double 19 

standard stay prosecution, active physical 20 

counterfeiting underlie piracy, and insufficient 21 

patent protection in agricultural, chemical, 22 
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biotechnology, and pharmaceutical sector are just a 1 

few of the protection and enforcement priority that 2 

still must be effectively addressed. 3 

  The conclusion, prior to 2012, Argentina 4 

significantly benefit from participation in the GSP, 5 

and reinstitution of benefits, coupled with 6 

sustained Argentina policy reforms, can further 7 

bolster the shared aims of the United States and the 8 

Argentina government to expand trade and promote 9 

sustainable economic growth in the country. 10 

  The significant efforts, the potential to 11 

engage economic growth and job creation that stands 12 

to benefit a reform-minded Macri government, a 13 

revitalized U.S.-Argentina bilateral relationship, 14 

and thousands of U.S. workers, farmers, and small 15 

businesses. 16 

  We look forward to answer any questions 17 

and provide any additional information to the 18 

Subcommittee when you need to.  Thank you very much 19 

for your time. 20 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you, Mr. Diaz. 21 

  May I turn to Mr. Alarcon, please? 22 
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  MR. ALARCON:  Thank you.  Good morning.  1 

My name is Andres Alarcon.  I am general manager for 2 

Arcor. 3 

  Arcor is the largest food company in 4 

Argentina.  We produce candies, chocolates, cookies 5 

and crackers, and food items.  We have 40 6 

manufacture facilities in South America and 20,000 7 

employees.  We export to over 120 countries in the 8 

world, including Asia, Africa, Europe, of course, 9 

North America. 10 

  Our main business in the United States was 11 

always hard candies, where we are number one 12 

producer in the world.  But the GSP suspension was 13 

really affect us because these candies are really 14 

commodities, and the margins are really low. 15 

  So going back to 2011 and 2012, we used to 16 

import to the United States more than 1,000 17 

containers.  And now, the reality is that we went 18 

down to 500 to 600 containers, everything related 19 

with this GSP suspension. 20 

  And this is very important, not only for 21 

Argentina; also we provide jobs to the ports, with 22 
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all the containers we are moving.  I think it's an 1 

interesting business that we can get back by 2 

reinstating the GSP for us.   3 

  Thank you. 4 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you very much for 5 

your testimony. 6 

  So we'll begin our questions with a 7 

question from USAID. 8 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you for your 9 

testimonies.  This is for all the panelists. 10 

  As you know, in order to gain eligibility 11 

for the GSP program, countries must meet a number of 12 

criteria established by the U.S. Congress, many of 13 

which are closely related to the business climate in 14 

the country. 15 

  Could you give us a bit of a sense of how 16 

the business environment in the country has evolved 17 

in Argentina since GSP was revoked in 2012?   18 

  Thank you. 19 

  MR. SCHWARZ:  Well, in my company -- 20 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Please use the 21 

microphone. 22 
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  MR. SCHWARZ:  I'm sorry.  It basically 1 

regarded almost all the business that we did down 2 

there.  It stopped us from importing because the 3 

costs became prohibitive for us.  So -- I mean, we 4 

did it before, and once we got to the GSP, it helped 5 

us move a lot more product as well.  And since it 6 

was revoked, we almost came to a complete stop.   7 

  Thank you. 8 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Can I follow up, please?  9 

You say that it wasn't the business climate.  There 10 

were many -- 11 

  MR. SCHWARZ:  It was really more than just 12 

the GSP, but the GSP was the main reason that we 13 

were sort of held back from keeping on doing the 14 

business that we were doing. 15 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 16 

  MR. DIAZ:  Really, it's complicated to 17 

explain the strong difference between the previous 18 

administration and the current one, but I can say 19 

that after 12 years of listening, the transformation 20 

is amazing. 21 

  We are moving to a pro-market approach.  22 
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We are removing barriers.  We are, let's say, the 1 

sole base, in terms of holdouts.  We are, let's say, 2 

obey all the law related to the CRE requirements.  3 

They normalized the financial systems.  They allowed 4 

the company to repeat its dividends after five years 5 

without any possibility to do that. 6 

  They normalized the importation process.  7 

They tried to simplify the mechanics of supply, 8 

implemented procedures to cross off the list of, 9 

let's say, of achievements.  The last 20 months are 10 

really great, especially for somebody that is 11 

operating in Argentina. 12 

  The second comments is that this is a 13 

beginning of a transformation process.  And we need 14 

10, 15 years in this direction to confirm that the 15 

achievements have been consolidated for an economy 16 

that should normalize all the aspect, macroeconomic 17 

or economic considerations. 18 

  So that's why the GSP is an excellent 19 

element to support those transformation process, 20 

improving the bilateral relationship between the two 21 

countries. 22 



268 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

  MR. WHITMAN:  I would just say, from a 1 

lithium perspective, we're one of the only companies 2 

in that global market that's sourcing out of 3 

Argentina.  It puts in a direct cost-competitive 4 

challenge to import separately out of Chile that's 5 

coming into the U.S. as well as people that China 6 

and Russia specifically that are sourcing out of 7 

Argentina but doing production elsewhere and then 8 

bringing products in here to the U.S. 9 

  So we're isolated in that supply chain 10 

with that cost structure that no one else bears.  11 

And as one of the primary U.S. manufacturers and 12 

producers of lithium products, in every -- we're in 13 

every segment of the lithium industry, from an 14 

industry perspective, so we sell to every 15 

conceivable space you can think of with lithium 16 

products. 17 

  Pharmaceutical grade lithium is all -- and 18 

specifically EVs, or electrical vehicles. 19 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you. 20 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Can I ask an additional 21 

question?  If you were going to source -- you must 22 
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be sourcing elsewhere.  So are you sourcing from 1 

Russia and China, and is the cost as attractive? 2 

  MR. WHITMAN:  In terms of the raw 3 

material, we're -- right now, we're only currently 4 

sourcing it out of Argentina.  So if you look at 5 

globally, there's not that many sources, current 6 

productive sources of Argentina.  It's basically the 7 

lithium triangle, which is the Andes, so it's 8 

Argentina, Chile, and Bolivia. 9 

  Argentina is one, of those three, is the 10 

only one who hasn't nationalized the resource, which 11 

allows a U.S. company to be more effective, more 12 

efficient in how we run that operation.  But there 13 

are other sources in Australia.  There's some 14 

emerging potential in Afghanistan, but you can 15 

imagine what that decision matrix is like, even 16 

though there's lots of people interested. 17 

  So it's challenging.  And this is a mining 18 

operation.  And any mining operation is hundreds of 19 

millions of dollars to make those kinds of 20 

investments.  So you just don't -- can't just pick 21 

it up and move it. 22 
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  MR. ALARCON:  Mr. Chairman, if I may add 1 

something to that.  We'll probably expand it in our 2 

post-hearing brief, but in terms of improving access 3 

into the Argentine market, a number of things have 4 

happened under the Macri government, elimination of 5 

exchange controls, elimination of non-transparent 6 

import restrictions, more transparency in government 7 

contracts, anti-corruption measures. 8 

  So all of these things, we'll be happy to 9 

address in more detail in our post-hearing brief. 10 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you all for your 11 

testimony.   12 

  I have a question for all of the 13 

panelists.  Could each of you very briefly give us a 14 

sense of how GSP status for Argentina, or the lack 15 

thereof, will affect your business strategy? 16 

  MR. WHITMAN:  I could speak just to the 17 

specific example I put, I had in my oral comments 18 

around the lithium metal production.  So with the 19 

close of the Coors plant in Upstate New York, that 20 

left us as the only manufacturer of those materials, 21 

that, I mean, it's a cost structure that we weren't 22 
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willing to or hadn't anticipated before.  That 1 

happened as recently as 2016. 2 

  So you're trying to capture new additional 3 

cost.  This is one of those elements of how you can 4 

move and adapt to the changing manufacturing 5 

environment.  But all money is needed, you know, so 6 

this is a primary result of that. 7 

  MR. ALARCON:  In regards to Arcor, one of 8 

our plants in the city of Arbolito, half of the 9 

lines are dedicated only for U.S. candies.  So what 10 

happened is that after 2011, 2012, we have to close 11 

and fire people because there is no demand. 12 

  Our demand went down 50 percent, over 50 13 

percent at this moment.  So that big investment and 14 

that, a lot of people working for that company are 15 

no longer in place.  It was a big hit. 16 

  MR. RUIZ:  I will add a small comment 17 

about the one business that I was talking about.  18 

And first thing I would like to say, that I am -- 19 

since January, I am based in this country, the U.S.  20 

I have moved with my family.  And the strategy is to 21 

expand our office here in the U.S. because we have a 22 
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big commitment to this market, and we think that 1 

bringing more Argentinean wine to the U.S. consumer 2 

would be an add value for your whole country. 3 

  Obviously, as I said, our numbers were 4 

struggling in the last few years.  And we think 5 

getting back to the GSP program would be a big help, 6 

to gain and become more competitive, in terms of 7 

pricing and cost effective. 8 

  MR. SENOSIAIN:  From the perspective of 9 

the Argentine Cheese Corporation and as importers of 10 

cheese, I think a 15 percent duty makes a big 11 

difference in competing with other countries.  And 12 

it's basically taken us out of the market. 13 

  Prior to 2012 and 2010 and everything, 14 

Argentina was coming very close to or was surpassing 15 

their quota, their TRQ of 6,000, 400 metric tons.  16 

Now it's less than 50 percent. 17 

  Obviously, the markets that you lose, you 18 

can't come back and grab because somebody else has 19 

taken it.  Do people stop eating cheese because 20 

Argentina, etc.?  But we believe we, if being 21 

competitive, we can come back and we can get in our 22 
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rightful place.  But with paying 15 percent, I find 1 

it very difficult. 2 

  MS. MATHIEU:  This is a question for those 3 

who are exporting.  For those of you who are 4 

exporting products from Argentina to several 5 

countries around the globe, I'd like to know if the 6 

loss of GSP in 2012 led you to shift your exports to 7 

markets other than the United States, and whether a 8 

positive decision on GSP would lead to any overall 9 

change in the mix of the countries that you export 10 

to. 11 

  MR. RUIZ:  Yes.  We have been developing 12 

other markets, and we have been succeeding with 13 

business in other countries across the world since 14 

the Argentinean wine, it's been recognized a quality 15 

product. 16 

  Nevertheless, we think that the U.S. 17 

country, because of the amount of people and the 18 

income, and especially in cities across the coast, 19 

where there is a lot of international tourists and 20 

things like that, we think there is a great 21 

opportunity, again, for the consumers to bring more 22 
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offer and on better quality and more diversity if we 1 

do get back to the program. 2 

  MR. WHITMAN:  It's a difficult answer to 3 

exactly provide.  Our global supply chain is very 4 

complex and based on a lot of factors.  A big driver 5 

would be customer base and application.  But having 6 

said that, you know, in any location where you're 7 

importing raw materials into and trying to look at 8 

sourcing considerations -- and the lithium market is 9 

changing very dynamically.  It's kind of in a 10 

transformative phase right now with electric 11 

vehicles driving a lot of that. 12 

  As the U.S. being the largest consumer of 13 

that particular market segment, you know, we're 14 

always going to be more inclined to be closer to the 15 

customer.  You can name off all the customers, and 16 

those are mostly U.S. companies here that are the 17 

ultimate consumer of those FMC products. 18 

  So there's a collection of cost structures 19 

you would look at.  GSP would absolutely be one of 20 

them.  And you have other manufacturing costs you'd 21 

look at, but in any location, in terms of the supply 22 
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chain, it's usually not one element.  But this would 1 

feed absolutely into that consideration. 2 

  And as we look at a lot of expansion 3 

ideas, that's either the U.S. or Asia or Europe, 4 

based on customer needs in each of those areas, this 5 

kind of thing is on that list of issues you have to 6 

consider. 7 

  We're talking over $2 million annually of 8 

just straight cost that other competitors don't have 9 

and really tight margins; $2 million, $2½ million, 10 

$3 million starts to add up quickly, for one 11 

specific issue.  It's not just all.  That's just one 12 

specific thing. 13 

  MS. MATHIEU:  So lithium, your best 14 

sources for lithium are those three countries?  You 15 

wouldn't be sourcing elsewhere? 16 

  MR. WHITMAN:  For raw materials, all of 17 

Argentina. 18 

  MS. MATHIEU:  I see.  Thank you. 19 

  MS. PAREKH:  This question is for 20 

Mr. Whitman.  You somewhat alluded to this in your 21 

earlier responses and your comments, but I'll ask 22 
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again, in case you wanted to expand on it. 1 

  In your comments, you note that if your 2 

company, FMC Corporation, were able to import 3 

lithium duty-free from Argentina, it would increase 4 

the competitiveness of FMC's lithium products vis-à-5 

vis your offshore competitors.  The import duty on 6 

lithium is 3.7 percent.  Would the elimination of 7 

that duty on lithium imports really make a 8 

difference in terms of FMC's competitiveness?  If 9 

so, how? 10 

  And secondly, who are your main four 11 

competitors, and are they able to import lithium 12 

free of duty? 13 

  MR. WHITMAN:  The primary U.S. competitor 14 

is sourcing out of Chile.  I guess, I don't know if 15 

you need for me to say that or not, but they, so 16 

they bring their stuff in through the Chilean Free 17 

Trade Agreement duty or tariff free.  And we're -- 18 

you know, so they're bring -- oh, sorry. 19 

  So they're bringing that material duty or 20 

tariff free out of Chile.  So it's absolutely a cost 21 

competitiveness situation.  The other competitors 22 
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trying to enter into the market, that's material 1 

that's going to be from Russia or China serving, you 2 

know, not necessarily raw materials, but they're -- 3 

so they're acquiring raw materials from other places 4 

around the world and doing, you know, downstream 5 

application. 6 

  But those are the kind of competitors 7 

you're dealing with.  And in a global market 8 

scenario, from a, you know, a metal production, from 9 

a lithium production, China and Russia have made 10 

massive gains in cutting into, from a nationalist, 11 

nationalized resource companies, they're making huge 12 

gains, and gains in the last 10 years of how much 13 

more market share they're getting. 14 

  So you're left with really only two U.S. 15 

companies that are competing in that private sector 16 

space, us and our competitor, which are both located 17 

in North Carolina.  I don't know if that answered 18 

all of your questions. 19 

  MS. PAREKH:  Thank you. 20 

  MS. SHEA:  This question is for Mr. Diaz.   21 

  Alejandro, as you know, in 2012 the United 22 
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States brought a WTO dispute against Argentina's 1 

import licensing practices.  And ultimately, the 2 

United States prevailed in that dispute. 3 

  It would be interesting for us if you 4 

could provide us with an assessment based on the 5 

experience of your member companies what the current 6 

functioning of the import licensing regime is in 7 

Argentina.  Are companies able to import without 8 

delays, without restrictions, or trade balancing 9 

requirements?  As you know, that was an issue in the 10 

past. 11 

  And if you would like to provide this 12 

information in a post-hearing submission, that's 13 

fine, but we'd be interested in your general 14 

assessment and experience of your member companies.   15 

  Thanks. 16 

  MR. DIAZ:  Thank you very much.  One of 17 

the change in the import mechanism was amazing that 18 

Argentina readapt the mechanism according to the 19 

WTO.  So that's quite an achievement for the new 20 

administration. 21 

  If you analyze the general situation, and 22 
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I can say that it depends, case by case, company by 1 

company.  And it's specifically, differentiation is 2 

made in terms of if you are importing raw materials 3 

or you are importing final products. 4 

  If you are importing raw material, to be 5 

the products, the mechanism can be practically 6 

automatic.  They change from the highest declaration 7 

of importation to automatic licenses.  The number of 8 

items involved have been reduced aggressively from 9 

that is hundred, that is under the new mechanism, we 10 

call it SIMI. 11 

  But you have in some cases delays.  You 12 

have, let's say, cases probably around between 40 to 13 

50 days still.  But again, normally it's affected 14 

the final products.  We solve rapidly because we 15 

have a very strong relationship with the Argentine 16 

administration.  So it's easy to communicate the 17 

delays, and the issue, normally it has been solved 18 

immediately. 19 

  So I can say that in the week, we can, 20 

let's say approach the problem, and we receive that 21 

positive advance of our current administration, that 22 
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is a mechanism that in some sense kind of give us 1 

the possibility to solve, case by case, when you 2 

will receive the communication problem and was that, 3 

that is still at issue. 4 

  So, to summarize, the mechanism is 5 

according to the new, the rational regulation, we 6 

have specific cases with the delay.  But we are very 7 

close to the government and can solve it near to the 8 

issues. 9 

  MS. SHEA:  Could I just ask one follow-up 10 

question?  Is it your sense that the delays are 11 

centered on certain sectors, certain industries? 12 

  MR. DIAZ:  Yes. 13 

  MS. SHEA:  If so, could you tell us which? 14 

  MR. DIAZ:  Yes, because it's not -- that's 15 

a good question.  So not only let's say 16 

differentiation between raw material integrated 17 

program, but in Argentina we have let's say three 18 

kind of classes, if you will. 19 

  We call the very competitive one, probably 20 

agriculture is one of those, the intermediate one, 21 

automobile sector is one of that, that can compete 22 
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especially in the region, and then we have the 1 

sensitive ones.  We're talking about toys, shoes, 2 

textile, and small electronics. 3 

  So there is a, let's say a concern that if 4 

you accelerate the importation, especially final 5 

product, we produce a very complicated situation, 6 

especially in this -- 7 

  Why?  Because we need to have those 8 

sectors that have not competitive international 9 

market.  If you accelerate importation process, or 10 

at least monitor in case like those importations, we 11 

produce an employment process very negative for the 12 

country. 13 

  So when you have 34 percent of let's say, 14 

level of power TV, a person relying, the line of 15 

power TV going to be crucial in terms of how to 16 

monitor the importation, especially in those 17 

sensitive sector where we need at least 5 or 10 18 

years for a positive transformation in terms of 19 

technology and unemployment. 20 

  So then the position of the government 21 

probably be cautious.  And they have to monitor 22 



282 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

those cases that should be, let's say, take in 1 

consideration in immediate term. 2 

  But, in general, I can say that the 3 

exchange have been very important.  We have an 4 

excellent relationship, can come, has the 5 

possibility to solve those cases that seems to be 6 

not very practical to some. 7 

  MS. SHEA:  Thank you. 8 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay.  That concludes 9 

our questions for the Argentina private sector 10 

panel.  I want to thank you all for your 11 

participation today and your very helpful comments. 12 

  So we are going to take a five-minute 13 

break.  And then when we return from this five-14 

minute break, we will begin consideration of the 15 

Ecuador arbitral awards case.  Thank you. 16 

  (Off the record at 11:28 a.m.) 17 

  (On the record at 11:39 a.m.) 18 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well, thank you for 19 

coming in today.  We will resume our hearing with 20 

the consideration of the Ecuador case. 21 

  So with that, let me to turn it to Chevron 22 
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for your statement, please 1 

  MR. MARTIN:  Great.  Hello?  Is this on? 2 

  Mr. Chairman and members of the GSP 3 

Subcommittee, good morning.  My name is Jose Luis 4 

Martin.  I serve as the Managing Counsel of 5 

Enterprise Litigation for Chevron Corporation.  I 6 

will let my colleague introduce himself. 7 

  MR. BISHOP:  I'm Doak Bishop.  I'm a 8 

partner with the law firm of King & Spalding in 9 

Houston. 10 

  MR. MARTIN:  Mr. Chairman and members of 11 

the Subcommittee, on behalf of the shareholders and 12 

employees of Chevron, we appreciate the opportunity 13 

to be heard for a second time in connection with our 14 

petition. 15 

  At issue is Ecuador's failure to comply 16 

with three interim awards issued by an arbitral 17 

tribunal under the U.S.-Ecuador BIT, which direct 18 

Ecuador to use all means necessary to suspend 19 

enforcement of the Ecuadorian Lago Agrio judgment. 20 

  Over the course of more than five years, 21 

Ecuador has repeatedly refused to honor the BIT 22 
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tribunal's interim awards, which led the BIT 1 

tribunal itself to hold that Ecuador had violated 2 

the interim awards and its obligations under 3 

international law. 4 

  Ecuador's failure to comply with the 5 

interim awards means that Ecuador is in breach of 6 

the GSP eligibility criterion, which requires 7 

beneficiary countries to honor binding arbitral 8 

awards made in favor of U.S. companies. 9 

  When a country like Ecuador fails to honor 10 

binding arbitral awards made in favor of a U.S. 11 

company like Chevron, it is not eligible to 12 

participate in the GSP program. 13 

  Far more than Chevron's interests are at 14 

stake here.  As the President and senior 15 

administration officials have stressed, a 16 

cornerstone of this Administration's trade policy is 17 

strict enforcement of the rules. 18 

  We were pleased to see Ambassador Bob 19 

Lighthizer state that the current administration, 20 

quote, "is committed to vigorously enforcing the 21 

eligibility criteria of our trade preference 22 
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programs." 1 

  Today, I want to focus on three key 2 

developments that took place after we appeared 3 

before you at the January 2016 hearing and that make 4 

the case for suspending Ecuador's GSP preferences 5 

even more compelling:   6 

  First, the Dutch Court of Appeal has 7 

recently rejected Ecuador's request to set aside the 8 

interim awards. 9 

  Second, U.S. courts have conclusively and 10 

finally determined that the Ecuadorian judgment was 11 

obtained by fraud and corruption, and specifically 12 

that the Lago Agrio plaintiffs' representatives 13 

bribed the Ecuadorian judge. 14 

  Third, Ecuador has continued to actively 15 

campaign in support of enforcement of the Lago Agrio 16 

judgment in defiance of its obligations under the 17 

interim awards. 18 

  Let me begin with Ecuador's attempts to 19 

have the interim awards set aside, which the Dutch 20 

Court Appeal rejected just this past summer, or just 21 

this summer.  The Dutch court specifically upheld 22 
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the tribunal's jurisdiction to issue these interim 1 

awards.  You will surely hear from Ecuador the same 2 

stale arguments that the interim awards are not 3 

binding until the Dutch Supreme Court has spoken or 4 

until the BIT tribunal has ruled on Ecuador's 5 

application to reconsider the awards. 6 

  But this is not true.  The tribunal 7 

deliberately issued its decisions as awards, not 8 

orders but awards as the term is used in the GSP 9 

statute, and made sure that by their own terms each 10 

interim award is immediately final and binding, just 11 

like an injunction by a U.S. court. 12 

  By definition, an award carries with it an 13 

obligation of prompt compliance under the BIT, the 14 

UNCITRAL Rules, and the New York Convention.  The 15 

obligation attaches during the pendency of any post-16 

award challenges. 17 

  The BIT tribunal issued the interim awards 18 

to protect Chevron from the 9 billion Lago Agrio 19 

judgment, a judgment that U.S. courts have condemned 20 

as the product of judicial bribery, fraud, and 21 

corruption, which brings me to my second key 22 
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development. 1 

  When we last appeared before you, the Lago 2 

Agrio plaintiffs' appeal of the RICO judgment to the 3 

Second Circuit was pending.  A few months later, in 4 

August of 2016, the Second Circuit affirmed the 5 

District Court's finding in all respects. 6 

  The plaintiffs' representatives then 7 

sought review before the U.S. Supreme Court, which 8 

denied the petition on June 19th, 2017.  Thus, the 9 

U.S. courts have conclusively and finally determined 10 

that the Lago Agrio judgment was obtained by fraud, 11 

corruption, and bribery and cannot be enforced in 12 

the United States. 13 

  It is this type of judgment, a judgment 14 

obtained fraudulently, that Ecuador has chosen to 15 

support.  And that is my third point.  Ecuador has 16 

doubled down and continues to promote the judgment 17 

by having its most senior government officials 18 

launch book tours and make movies and videos in 19 

support.  That's the very opposite of good faith. 20 

  I have one final point.  In its pre-21 

hearing brief, Ecuador again reiterates that the GSP 22 
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statute's arbitral awards criterion does to apply 1 

interim awards.  This is wrong. 2 

  First, the GSP statute refers to arbitral 3 

awards and does not distinguished between awards 4 

based on their labels.  The key is that as awards, 5 

interim awards are immediately final and binding as 6 

to their subject matter, and they're enforceable. 7 

  Second, Ecuador comments that Senator Taft 8 

sought to model the arbitral awards criterion after 9 

corresponding text in the New York Convention.  But 10 

the convention makes no distinction between 11 

different kinds of awards.  Interim awards are 12 

enforced under the New York Convention and, in fact, 13 

have consistently been enforced in both the 14 

Netherlands and the United States. 15 

  Third, Ecuador's contention that the 16 

interim awards were unheard of when Congress adopted 17 

the GSP statute as part of the Trade Act of 1974 is 18 

wrong.  In fact, arbitral tribunals have issued such 19 

award as an exercise of their inherent powers even 20 

before the Trade Act was enacted. 21 

  Finally, Congress has amended the GSP 22 
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eligibility criteria three times since 1975.  They 1 

did so in 1996, 2000, and 2002.  Had it seen the 2 

need to clarify that the arbitral awards criterion 3 

applies only to final awards, it would have done so, 4 

but it didn't. 5 

  In conclusion, Ecuador should not be 6 

allowed, and under the law of this land, is not 7 

allowed, to defy a U.S. statute that sets 8 

eligibility criteria and keep its unilateral trade 9 

preferences.  It is time to hold Ecuador accountable 10 

as required by statute. 11 

  We respectfully urge the Subcommittee to 12 

recommend to the President that which the law 13 

requires, the immediate withdrawal or suspension of 14 

Ecuador's GSP eligibility.   15 

  Thank you for your time, and I very much 16 

look forward to your questions. 17 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.  We really 18 

appreciate your statement. 19 

  MR. MARTIN:  Sure. 20 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Before I start with the 21 

questions, we have one new member of the government 22 
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panel that's sitting in for this session.  I'll ask 1 

her to introduce herself. 2 

  MS. BLUNT:  Thank you.  I'm Amanda Blunt.  3 

I'm at USTR Office of General Counsel. 4 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  So on pages 13 to 14 of 5 

Chevron's pre-hearing brief, Chevron lists five 6 

examples of actions that the Government of Ecuador 7 

could take to comply with the interim awards and 8 

thereby potentially moot Chevron's petition for 9 

withdrawal or suspension of Ecuador's GSP benefits, 10 

including certain actions by Ecuador's Attorney 11 

General, Foreign Minister, or courts. 12 

  We have two questions regarding the listed 13 

actions.  The first question is can Chevron be more 14 

specific about which of the listed actions, if taken 15 

by Ecuador, would be sufficient for Chevron to 16 

withdraw its petition? 17 

  MR. MARTIN:  I think we've listed in our 18 

brief just a few examples of the actions they could 19 

take.  In terms of more specific actions that they 20 

could take, I think that we would have to go back to 21 

the tribunal and see the very precise language that 22 
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we've used before the arbitral tribunal.  And I 1 

think that we could obviously provide more of that 2 

specificity in our post-hearing brief. 3 

  That being said, the list here are actions 4 

that the Republic of Ecuador can immediately take 5 

today.  They could file amicus briefs, you know, in 6 

each of the enforcement jurisdictions that are 7 

currently dealing with enforcement actions, such as 8 

Canada, Argentina, and Brazil. 9 

  In these briefings, or intervention 10 

requests, they could say that they are bound by the 11 

arbitral awards and that this judgment should not 12 

be -- you know, is subject to enforcement at this 13 

time.  The Attorney General could issue various 14 

opinions to prevent the action in Ecuador from 15 

moving forward. 16 

  They could take actions to, you know, to 17 

stay the bond obligation.  There's a whole host of 18 

things that they can do collectively to come into 19 

immediate compliance with the awards, but they have 20 

not done so. 21 

  Mr. Bishop, do you have anything you want 22 
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to add on there? 1 

  MR. BISHOP:  Yeah.  If I could just 2 

supplement that, I would say, first of all, they 3 

should stop actively supporting enforcement of the 4 

judgment.  And if they did that, that would be a 5 

positive development.  They are still out there 6 

actively supporting development. 7 

  A second thing, though, was that to make 8 

this judgment enforceable, they had to obtain from 9 

the courts an order of execution.  If the Attorney 10 

General or the government went back to the courts 11 

with a motion to revoke that order of execution, 12 

that could potentially prevent the ability of the 13 

plaintiffs to seek enforcement abroad.  So that's a 14 

second thing. 15 

  And a third thing is that the Attorney 16 

General should be out there giving an opinion that 17 

the courts need to comply with these interim awards.  18 

Those are three things that I would say that they 19 

should do.  If they did those three things, then I 20 

think it would be a very different situation. 21 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you very much.   22 
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  How does Chevron respond to Ecuador's 1 

assertion that the only available mechanism under 2 

Ecuadorian law to stay the enforcement of an 3 

otherwise enforceable judgment is provided under 4 

Article 11 of the Law of Cassation, i.e., pursuant 5 

to an application by the interested party to stay 6 

enforcement by the filing of a cassation appeal and 7 

the posting of a bond? 8 

  MR. MARTIN:  The tribunal's awards, they 9 

have a created an obligation of result that attaches 10 

to all three branches of government, of all 11 

dimensions of the state of Ecuador. 12 

  Whatever difficulties the Republic of 13 

Ecuador is said to have, they are under an 14 

obligation to comply to do that.  Again, I think the 15 

Republic or the Attorney General can sit there, 16 

submit a briefing, can submit amicus briefs, could 17 

intervene in these cases, could actually issue 18 

opinions to that effect. 19 

  MR. BISHOP:  Again, if I could supplement.  20 

Article 11 of the Ecuadorian constitution 21 

specifically provides that any official in the 22 
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government, any official has a legal duty to prevent 1 

constitutional violations.  And here, there has 2 

definitely been a constitutional violation of 3 

Chevron's rights to due process and a fair trial. 4 

  As we know, the U.S. courts have now 5 

definitely decided that this judgment was obtained 6 

as a result of fraud, bribery, and corruption.  That 7 

clearly violates the rights to an impartial decision 8 

making, to due process, to a fair trial. 9 

  So the constitutional rights of Chevron 10 

were violated here.  And every member of the 11 

government has a constitutional duty, per 12 

Article 11, to take actions to prevent that.  So the 13 

Attorney General, the prosecutors, the President, 14 

any member of the government could take actions 15 

under the Constitution and are required to take 16 

actions under the Constitution. 17 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you. 18 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you for your 19 

testimony. 20 

  Chevron asserts that Ecuador continues to 21 

take other actions that demonstrate that Ecuador is 22 
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failing to act in good faith with respect to the 1 

recognition of the interim awards as binding or the 2 

enforcement of the interim awards, including by 3 

making public statements criticizing the arbitral 4 

tribunal and the interim awards. 5 

  How does Chevron respond to Ecuador's 6 

assertion that the arbitral tribunal has never 7 

issued a gag order restraining the parties from 8 

making statements about the arbitration and has 9 

never found Ecuador to be in breach of the interim 10 

awards on the basis of these public statements? 11 

  MR. MARTIN:  The tribunal has found them, 12 

has found the Republic of Ecuador to be in breach of 13 

the arbitral awards for failing to comply with them.  14 

It hasn't found them to be in breach for those 15 

public statements.  But I think the language in the 16 

criteria, that is in the GSP criteria, you know, 17 

contemplates the good faith hearings to, or 18 

recognition of the awards as final and binding. 19 

  And I think the actions that the Republic 20 

of Ecuador is taking publicly to, you know, fund 21 

media campaigns against Chevron, to fund books and 22 



296 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

movies and other media efforts to denigrate the 1 

interim awards and the BIT process is inconsistent 2 

with the GSP criteria and don't fit the requirement 3 

that's there. 4 

  MR. BISHOP:  Yeah.  If I could just 5 

iterate the same thing:  The real issue here is 6 

whether Ecuador is in breach of the eligibility 7 

criteria of the GSP statute, that is, whether they 8 

have acted in good faith to recognize and enforce 9 

arbitral awards.  That's the real issue. 10 

  The gag order itself is a side show.  It's 11 

not relevant to the issues before this Subcommittee.  12 

And as Jose said, the tribunal, in Interim Award 13 

Number 4, did find, in fact, that Ecuador had 14 

violated Interim Awards 1 and 2, requiring them to 15 

use all measures necessary to prevent the 16 

enforcement of the judgment. 17 

  Ecuador has taken no actions whatsoever to 18 

prevent enforcement of the judgment.  That's number 19 

one.  Number two, as we pointed out, they have 20 

actively been out there supporting the judgment.  So 21 

the gag order is simply irrelevant to the issues 22 
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here. 1 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you. 2 

  MS. PAREKH:  Thank you very much for your 3 

participation today. 4 

  Ecuador contends that it is unable to 5 

comply with the interim awards in part because of 6 

limitations under Ecuadorian law, including with 7 

respect to the separation of powers.  Does Chevron 8 

consider Ecuadorian legal constraints to be relevant 9 

in assessing whether Ecuador is acting in good faith 10 

with respect to the interim awards? 11 

  MR. BISHOP:  Can I take that one? 12 

  MR. MARTIN:  Yeah.  Why don't you take 13 

that? 14 

  MR. BISHOP:  I would start by pointing out 15 

what the tribunal did in our case.  The tribunal 16 

began by issuing an order, an interim order, saying 17 

take all measures at your disposal.  Well, Ecuador 18 

thumbed their nose at that.  They not only took no 19 

measures, they said we're not going to take any 20 

measures or comply. 21 

  The tribunal then issued the first interim 22 
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award in which they took the order and made it into 1 

an award so that it would be binding and enforceable 2 

on them. 3 

  Then, when Ecuador said that they would 4 

not comply with that, the tribunal then converted 5 

that into Interim Award Number 2, saying you must 6 

take all measures necessary, not just all measures 7 

at your disposal, but all measures necessary to 8 

comply.  And again, Ecuador did not comply with that 9 

interim award. 10 

  So if I could answer your question 11 

directly, the answer is the separation of powers 12 

issue is not a real issue.  The order of the 13 

tribunal goes to the entire state of Ecuador, and it 14 

says so on its face, that it applies to the 15 

judiciary, to the legislative branch, and to the 16 

executive branch. 17 

  And of course, the state, all of its 18 

branches, are the respondent in our case.  So the 19 

order goes to all of them, not just the government.  20 

And none of the branches have complied.  So 21 

separation of powers is simply irrelevant. 22 
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  MR. MARTIN:  One thing that I may add is, 1 

if -- in the materials before you is the opinion of 2 

the Dutch Appellate Court that recently upheld the 3 

interim measures awards. 4 

  And the Dutch Appellate Court took this 5 

issue head on and very clearly said that when 6 

Ecuador entered into the Bilateral Investment 7 

Treaty, it entered into it with its eyes wide open, 8 

knowing that they would have to comply with these 9 

types of awards, specifically addressing the very 10 

argument that you have in saying that it's an 11 

obligation of result in Ecuador but, you know, 12 

through all of its branches of government.  You need 13 

to figure out a way to comply with the express terms 14 

of the awards. 15 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you for your 16 

testimony. 17 

  Ecuador contends that GSP benefits should 18 

not be withdrawn based on interim awards that are 19 

currently under review in the arbitral proceedings 20 

and in Dutch domestic courts.  Ecuador intimates, by 21 

contrast, that it was able to pay the commercial 22 
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cases award after Ecuador's appeal of the award were 1 

exhausted. 2 

  We have two questions regarding your views 3 

on Ecuador's opinion.  The first question is does 4 

Ecuador consider the pendency of international 5 

domestic review of the interim awards relevant in 6 

asserting whether Ecuador is acting in good faith 7 

with respect to the interim awards?  And if you'd 8 

like me to repeat that, I will. 9 

  MR. MARTIN:  No.  I think we got it. 10 

  Doak? 11 

  MR. BISHOP:  Well, apparently that's what 12 

they're arguing. 13 

  MR. MARTIN:  Yeah. 14 

  MR. BISHOP:  Obviously, we take exactly 15 

the opposite position.  It's certainly not relevant.  16 

There is an obligation under the bilateral 17 

investment treaty, expressly says you must comply 18 

immediately with any arbitral award; any arbitral 19 

award is final and binding. 20 

  The UNCITRAL Rules say specifically that 21 

interim awards are final and binding.  The New York 22 
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Convention applies to enforcement of arbitral 1 

awards.  So then the question here is simply whether 2 

they have complied or whether they have taken steps 3 

or tried to take steps in good faith to comply with 4 

these interim awards. 5 

  And there is nothing.  They have taken no 6 

such steps.  So we would say that they certainly 7 

haven't acted in good faith, and they certainly 8 

can't argue that they've acted in good faith when 9 

they've been out there taking active measures to 10 

enforce the judgment, the exact opposite of good 11 

faith in complying with the orders. 12 

  So if the question is, is that their 13 

position, I assume that is their position.  But our 14 

position is exactly the opposite. 15 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you.   16 

  If Ecuador committed to comply with the 17 

interim awards after the exhaustion of international 18 

and domestic remedies, would that demonstrate good 19 

faith with respect to the interim awards? 20 

  MR. MARTIN:  Let me try to see if I can 21 

take this one.  You know, the interim awards are 22 
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final, immediately binding.  And under the UNCITRAL 1 

Rules, the New York Convention, the BIT and the 2 

awards themselves, you know, they have to implement 3 

these awards without delay. 4 

  It's not as if the awards have to be 5 

complied with only after they exhaust other 6 

remedies.  These awards are final and binding today. 7 

  So we would say, if they committed to 8 

comply with the awards after they've exhausted all 9 

appeals, that certainly wouldn't be good enough to 10 

meet the express terms of the interim awards, which 11 

are final today.  And it certainly wouldn't give us 12 

the relief that we would need now from the interim 13 

awards, which requires them to take all measures 14 

necessary to prevent enforcement of the Ecuadorian 15 

judgment. 16 

  MR. BISHOP:  I think it's very important, 17 

in looking at these interim awards, to remember the 18 

context.  Chevron is faced with a $9½ billion 19 

Ecuadorian judgment that the U.S. courts have 20 

finally decided, it was obtained by fraud and 21 

corruption, by bribing the judge and by fraudulent 22 
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means. 1 

  The tribunal has before it whether there 2 

is a violation of the bilateral investment treaty.  3 

But pending its decision on the merits of that, it 4 

issued these interim awards to maintain the status 5 

quo, to prevent the judgment from being enforced 6 

until it makes that decision. 7 

  And that protects both parties.  It 8 

protects Chevron from irreparable harm, as the 9 

tribunal found, the possibility of having to pay $9½ 10 

billion, and then the judgment be found improper by 11 

the tribunal and have to try to get that money back 12 

from Ecuador, which it could not pay, but it also it 13 

protects Ecuador. 14 

  It protects the taxpayers of Ecuador from 15 

having to pay $9½ billion back to Chevron for a 16 

judgment that was improper and fraudulent in the 17 

first place.  It was an entirely proper and well 18 

thought out measure by the tribunal to issue these 19 

interim awards. 20 

  So for Ecuador to thumb its nose during 21 

this process at the interim awards, say they're not 22 
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going to comply but they'll comply sometime later, 1 

no, that doesn't protect Chevron.  Chevron is still 2 

immediately threatened with possible enforcement of 3 

this fraudulent judgment. 4 

  So whatever they may do down the road, no, 5 

that's not enough.  They're not in compliance with 6 

the eligibility criteria now. 7 

  MR. MARTIN:  So the only thing I would add 8 

is there is definitely a difference between the 9 

commercial cases award, which was a money judgment, 10 

where we could get payment through interest, which 11 

we ultimately did, many years after the fact, versus 12 

these interim awards that are essentially akin to 13 

injunctive relief, which we need for protection 14 

while the tribunal is currently addressing the 15 

merits of these issues. 16 

  So it's not -- it won't stop me from going 17 

to Canada and Brazil and Argentina as much as I'm 18 

traveling to defend ourselves in each of these 19 

jurisdictions, if they say that they'll comply with 20 

these interim awards that provide us injunctive 21 

relief to preserve the status quo, you know, at some 22 
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point in the indefinite future. 1 

  The awards are final, immediately binding 2 

now, today.  They need to be complied with today.  3 

They should have been complied with today.  And 4 

instead, what the Republic of Ecuador is doing is 5 

not only are they ignoring their obligations to meet 6 

the plain terms of the awards, but they are actually 7 

taking steps to frustrate the awards, to promote and 8 

encourage enforcing the judgment, which is the 9 

precise harm that the interim awards were intended 10 

to prevent. 11 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 12 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you for your testimony. 13 

  Do you have -- I think you have already 14 

alluded to some of this question, but I'm going to 15 

pose it anyway, so in case you want to elaborate or 16 

clarify. 17 

  Ecuador contends, as a threshold matter, 18 

that GSP benefits may not be withdrawn based on lack 19 

of compliance with the interim awards as opposed to 20 

the final arbitral awards.  And I think that this 21 

issue has been briefed and vetted at length.  Does 22 
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Chevron have any additional points in response or to 1 

elaborate? 2 

  MR. BISHOP:  Yes.  I would love to 3 

elaborate on that.  I would start by what is 4 

obvious, that the GSP statute provides, as its 5 

eligibility criteria, the failure to comply with 6 

arbitral awards.  It makes no distinction between an 7 

interim award and an award at the end of the merits 8 

of the case.  There's no distinction made there. 9 

  The distinction is between what is an 10 

order and what is an award.  And the tribunal went 11 

down this road of starting by making these as 12 

interim orders.  But then only when Ecuador 13 

indicated it would not comply did it convert them to 14 

interim awards, precisely so that they would be 15 

final and binding according to the New York 16 

Convention. 17 

  And the New York Convention is what 18 

Senator Taft based his awards eligibility in the GSP 19 

statute on.  He based it on that.  Well, these 20 

interim awards are enforceable and final according 21 

to the New York Convention. 22 
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  The BIT itself expressly provides they're 1 

final and binding.  The awards, in their own terms, 2 

say they're immediately final and binding on the 3 

parties. 4 

  The UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules and Article 5 

32 say that interim awards are final and binding.  6 

So it makes no difference whether they're interim or 7 

whether they're made at the end of the case.  They 8 

are final and binding for purposes of their subject 9 

matter, which is to protect Chevron, and to protect 10 

Ecuador during this interim period until the 11 

tribunal finally rules.   12 

  I hope that answers your question. 13 

  MR. KARAWA:  Sorry.  I'm not -- this, to 14 

me, is too complex.  It's a legal issue, so some 15 

other legal -- but if you could provide something, 16 

probably in post-hearing, really the clear 17 

distinction between interim and final awards, that 18 

may help. 19 

  MR. MARTIN:  You've got it.  The only 20 

thing -- I'd like -- two things, again, the criteria 21 

is clear.  It says arbitral awards.  It doesn't 22 
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distinguish between interim and finals, as long as 1 

it's immediately binding.  Then it's an award.  But 2 

the whole -- 3 

  MR. KARAWA:  You are referring to the 4 

statute.  I'm talking about those two types of -- 5 

  MR. MARTIN:  Sure. 6 

  MR. KARAWA:  How they are offered, interim 7 

awards and final awards. 8 

  MR. MARTIN:  Perfect.  We'll do that.  The 9 

only other thing that I would add, and it's just 10 

kind of a broader context of this is, you know, I 11 

saw a reference to the Medellin case in Ecuador's 12 

brief, and I was a little bit surprised to see that 13 

reference because the conduct, you know, in those 14 

cases, in terms of what the President did or the 15 

U.S. government did to try to comply with the awards 16 

in that case, versus the conduct that Ecuador has 17 

done in this case, it's in sharp contrast. 18 

  On the one hand -- and I don't think you 19 

have the President's memo that's been asserted to -- 20 

I will provide it to the government.  There was 21 

amicus briefs that were filed in the Medellin case 22 
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in I think the Supreme Court. 1 

  And then there were even efforts after the 2 

case was over to engage and come up with legislation 3 

with various states, versus the contrast or the 4 

conduct of Ecuador in this case, whereas not only 5 

are they not complying with the awards at all, but 6 

they are taking affirmative steps to frustrate the 7 

award, defy the awards, encourage enforcement of the 8 

judgment.  So I wanted to kind of point that out for 9 

context, in terms of the question. 10 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you.  And finally, 11 

would the issuance of a final arbitral award in the 12 

arbitral proceedings render Chevron's petition moot? 13 

  MR. MARTIN:  I'm sorry.  Say that again. 14 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Would the issuance of 15 

final arbitral awards in the arbitral proceedings 16 

render Chevron's petition moot? 17 

  MR. MARTIN:  I'll let Doak take this one. 18 

  MR. BISHOP:  Yeah.  It depends upon the -- 19 

  MR. MARTIN:  Yeah. 20 

  MR. BISHOP:  -- on the final award.  The 21 

final award may very well continue, effectively, 22 
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these interim awards.  We think it probably will.  1 

So in that case, the answer would be no.  But it 2 

does depend upon precisely what the final award 3 

says.  And so it's hard to answer that in the 4 

abstract. 5 

  MR. MARTIN:  And again, if I may add, you 6 

know, this idea that at some point in the future, if 7 

things are finally resolved, then maybe that will 8 

take care of these petitions, I just want to go back 9 

to our, one of our key points is that these awards, 10 

interim awards are immediately -- they're final and 11 

binding now, and they're immediately enforceable, 12 

and Ecuador is under an obligation to implement 13 

these and take all the steps without delay. 14 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you. 15 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  So thank you very much 16 

for your testimony and providing answers for all of 17 

our questions. 18 

  MR. MARTIN:  We really -- I very much 19 

appreciated all of your questions, so thank you very 20 

much for the time. 21 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Great.  Thank you. 22 
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  MR. BISHOP:  Yes.  Thank you. 1 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  So I would now ask the 2 

Government of Ecuador to come forward, please. 3 

  So before we begin with Mr. Bloom's 4 

statement, let me just express my condolences and 5 

sympathy for the embassy fire this morning.  I know 6 

that you have a lot to deal with on your plate, 7 

Mr. Montalvo. 8 

  MR. MONTALVO:  Thank you very much, 9 

Mr. Chairman.  Actually, President Moreno has just 10 

publicly expressed his gratitude to the fire 11 

department for all their help during this incident.  12 

Thank you very much. 13 

  MR. BLOOM:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and 14 

members of the Subcommittee.  And thank you for the 15 

opportunity. 16 

  Chevron has been trying to use trade 17 

against Ecuador since 2004, five years before the 18 

current arbitration was even commenced and seven 19 

years before the interim awards at issue here were 20 

granted, interim awards which, by the way, have 21 

nothing to do with the merits of the case. 22 
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  Back in 2004, Chevron sought to deny 1 

Ecuador trade benefits based on legal claims it had 2 

brought in that year against Ecuador, believing that 3 

its initiation of litigation against Ecuador would 4 

cause Ecuador's executive branch to intervene or 5 

interfere in the Lago Agrio private party 6 

litigation. 7 

  Ecuador went on to prevail in that 2004 8 

lawsuit, which took five years, and the trade 9 

benefits remained intact. 10 

  Chevron now asks you to focus on the New 11 

York decision in which Judge Kaplan found Steven 12 

Donziger liable to Chevron.  But to be clear, 13 

Ecuador was never a party to that proceeding.  14 

Ecuador is instead a party to an international 15 

arbitration, and those proceedings are ongoing. 16 

  And unlike the federal court in New York, 17 

which did not consider the contamination, our 18 

arbitral tribunal traveled to the Ecuadorian rain 19 

forest to see the pollution that Chevron says does 20 

not exist.  And unlike Judge Kaplan, our tribunal 21 

had the opportunity to review the hard drive of the 22 
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Ecuadorian judge who authored the decision against 1 

Chevron.  We simply cannot put the cart before the 2 

horse and presume any given outcome. 3 

  Chevron's petition suffers several fatal 4 

flaws.  First, Congress made compliance with 5 

arbitral awards a condition of eligibility, but it 6 

did not and it could not have included interim 7 

awards within that scope. 8 

  How do we know?  Because when Congress 9 

enacted the statute, arbitral tribunals did not even 10 

have the power to issue interim awards.  Domestic 11 

courts had that power. 12 

  And if Congress had intended to reach 13 

interim awards, it would have required compliance 14 

not only with arbitral awards, but with the related 15 

domestic court provisional orders, the same orders 16 

in kind as the interim awards we're talking about 17 

here.  But Congress chose not to do that. 18 

  Second, it makes no sense to include 19 

interim awards within the ambit of the statute's 20 

mandate because they are, by definition, temporary.  21 

And their status here is especially precarious 22 
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because there are two separate applications pending 1 

before the tribunal to terminate these temporary 2 

awards. 3 

  And we know that the tribunal is taking 4 

them seriously because both parties received 5 

questions from the tribunal over the summer in 6 

response to those applications. 7 

  Further, the Supreme Court of the 8 

Netherlands will be deciding whether the interim 9 

awards are even lawful or instead will have to be 10 

terminated.  And with all due respect, it's 11 

obviously not the place of the Subcommittee to 12 

decide for the Dutch Supreme Court whether the 13 

interim awards are lawful.  That issue will be 14 

decided by the Dutch Supreme Court. 15 

  And it defies logic to believe that 16 

Congress intended to disrupt bilateral relations and 17 

to poke a sovereign in the eye on the basis of a 18 

temporary award whose lawfulness is still in doubt 19 

and which could be dissolved the very next day. 20 

  Finally, the good faith inability to 21 

comply is not a basis to terminate trade 22 
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preferences.  In the 2008 Medellin decision, which 1 

the prior panel referenced, the U.S. Supreme Court 2 

found that the U.S. was legally prohibited from 3 

complying with an ICJ award. 4 

  As in Medellin, here, the issue of the 5 

interim awards' enforceability was submitted to the 6 

domestic courts.  And the Ecuadorian Court of Appeal 7 

recognized that Ecuador could not simultaneously 8 

comply on the one hand with the interim awards and 9 

on the other hand with its legal obligations under 10 

the Inter-American Convention on Human Rights, 11 

something that was not referenced by Chevron. 12 

  Instead, the international law commitments 13 

are mutually exclusive.  And I strongly encourage 14 

you, if you have not already done so, to please 15 

review these two Ecuadorian Court of Appeal 16 

decisions. 17 

  And if you agree that the court's 18 

decisions are thoughtful and considered and, I 19 

believe, correctly decided, you will also then 20 

appreciate that compliance or noncompliance has not 21 

been a matter of choice, any more than compliance or 22 
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noncompliance was a matter of choice for the United 1 

States in Medellin. 2 

  The U.S. did not act in bad faith when the 3 

U.S. Supreme Court found it could not comply with 4 

the ICJ interim award, and Ecuador is not acting in 5 

bad faith here. 6 

  To Chevron, Ecuador is an insurance policy 7 

should Chevron's efforts against the Lago Agrio 8 

plaintiffs fail.  For its part, Ecuador asked only 9 

that the legal processes be allowed to play 10 

themselves out, free from political or outside 11 

interference. 12 

  I thank you, and I'd be happy to entertain 13 

any questions you may have. 14 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.   15 

  Does Ecuador commit to complying with the 16 

interim awards? 17 

  MR. BLOOM:  I think the Ecuadorian Court 18 

of Appeal has resolved that issue, and that is -- 19 

and Chevron, neither Chevron nor anyone else has 20 

been able to show how Ecuador could both comply with 21 

the interim awards and its obligations as a 22 
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signatory to the Inter-American Convention on Human 1 

Rights. 2 

  And I should note that Article 24 of that 3 

convention guarantees equal protection under the 4 

law, and Article 25 guarantees access to the courts.  5 

And all of the human rights commissions, 6 

specifically the European human rights commissions, 7 

have all found that denial of a plaintiff who has 8 

prevailed in the courts, you cannot deny them a 9 

remedy.  And that's what these interim awards are 10 

doing, for six years plus, for almost six years. 11 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay.  So no? 12 

  MR. BLOOM:  Yeah.  I certainly -- unless 13 

that issue is resubmitted to the Court of Appeal and 14 

the Court of Appeal issues a different answer. 15 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay.  Does Ecuador 16 

commit to complying with the final awards once 17 

they're issued by the tribunal? 18 

  MR. BLOOM:  I think the best answer to 19 

that is you look at the history.  Ecuador has 20 

complied with every final award, and I would 21 

absolutely presume that it would comply with the 22 
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final award here. 1 

  Whether there's going to be something 2 

unique and new legal issues that might be submitted 3 

to a court, I don't have a crystal ball.  But 4 

certainly the expectation would be, based on its 5 

history of compliance, is that yes, that Ecuador 6 

will comply. 7 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay.  And what if the 8 

final award relief, as set out in the interim 9 

awards, i.e., requiring Ecuador to take all measures 10 

necessary to suspend or cause to be suspended the 11 

enforcement or recognize of the Lago Agrio judgment, 12 

so in other words, what if the final awards mirror 13 

the interim awards? 14 

  MR. BLOOM:  Well, first, and with all due 15 

respect to my colleague, Mr. Bishop, I don't believe 16 

that that's a possibility, that even if Chevron were 17 

to prevail in the arbitration, I do not believe that 18 

the tribunal would have the authority or will 19 

consider doing that.  I think the remedy is one of 20 

monetary damages or one of indemnification. 21 

  Number two, if that were to happen, I 22 
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think that's going to be another issue that's going 1 

to be submitted to the courts.  That's my guess.  2 

But I think it's going to be a legal issue that will 3 

be well over my pay grade, and for that matter, of 4 

any political leader, because that's going to raise 5 

similar but different issues than that which was 6 

submitted to the Ecuadorian Court of Appeal. 7 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay.  But if it is a 8 

monetary award, that's -- 9 

  MR. BLOOM:  Then it would not be raising 10 

the same issues if it's a monetary award.  And 11 

again, my answer is the same as previously, which 12 

is, in predicting the future, one can look to the 13 

past.  And Ecuador has complied with every final 14 

award to date ever entered against it in all the 15 

arbitrations. 16 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  But they've all been 17 

monetary, correct? 18 

  MR. BLOOM:  Correct. 19 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Okay. 20 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you.   21 

  As noted in Chevron's pre-hearing brief, 22 



320 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

it lists five examples of actions the Government of 1 

Ecuador could take to comply with the interim awards 2 

and thereby potentially moot Chevron's petition for 3 

withdrawal or suspension of Ecuador's GSP benefits, 4 

including certain actions by Ecuador's Attorney 5 

General, Foreign Minister, or courts.  And I have 6 

two questions.  Can Ecuador provide its views on 7 

each proposed action on Chevron's list? 8 

  MR. BLOOM:  I can.  I probably can go into 9 

more detail post-hearing, but I can certainly give 10 

you a couple of quick answers. 11 

  First off, the competency or jurisdiction 12 

or authority of the Attorney General, and for that 13 

matter, every political leader in a civil law 14 

country, is greatly circumscribed.  They can only do 15 

that which they're authorized to do. 16 

  As a principal matter, the Attorney 17 

General does not have standing, does not have the 18 

right to interfere in any private party litigation 19 

absent a legally cognizable interest, because that's 20 

something that we had previously looked into. 21 

  So all of the ideas that the Attorney 22 
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General can do this or the Attorney General can do 1 

this is wrong really at its inception. 2 

  Second, and I think this is really an 3 

important point, and it's one that we're try to make 4 

in our papers, and maybe we can use Medellin as an 5 

example, the Medellin case was highly controversial, 6 

certainly in legal circles in the United States, and 7 

people were very adamant and for one side or the 8 

other.  But the issue to be decided and the decision 9 

maker here in the United States in the case of the 10 

Avena arbitration was the Supreme Court. 11 

  Whether Ecuador can comply, given its 12 

competing international law obligations under the 13 

Human Rights Convention, is fundamentally a legal 14 

issue that was decided by the Ecuadorian Court of 15 

Appeal.  Once it decided that, government officials 16 

have to recognize that decision as a binding law in 17 

Ecuador. 18 

  I have a death penalty case that I'm 19 

working on right now.  Maybe this is too tangential, 20 

but it's reminiscent of the Medellin cases.  I can 21 

tell you, in order to execute somebody, there are a 22 
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lot of prison officials, government officials who 1 

have got to take affirmative steps. 2 

  After the Medellin decision was 3 

undertaken, government officials of Texas, many of 4 

them, had to undertake affirmative actions to ensure 5 

that Mr. Medellin and over 50 Mexican nationals were 6 

executed. 7 

  The only point is, once the courts have 8 

spoken, that's the final decision.  Here, the 9 

Ecuadorian Court of Appeal has spoken.  And again, I 10 

encourage you to read it because that was the 11 

decision maker here.  It's not the Attorney General 12 

or some other government official. 13 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Okay.  Thank you.   14 

  I think we would appreciate a full list in 15 

your post-hearing brief as well. 16 

  MR. BLOOM:  I'd be happy to. 17 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Then the second question 18 

is are there any other actions Ecuador has taken or 19 

could take to demonstrate good faith with respect to 20 

the recognition of the interim awards as binding, or 21 

the enforcement of the interim awards? 22 
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  MR. BLOOM:  And I will tell you, when the 1 

award came out, we spent a lot of time precisely on 2 

that issue.  We actually came up with a solution, a 3 

solution that we thought -- I'm trying to remember 4 

exactly what it was. 5 

  But the tribunal, for example, required 6 

Chevron to post a bond in support of the interim 7 

award, and we were allowing that to be released for 8 

certain bond purposes, etc., etc. 9 

  But the fundamental problem that we have 10 

in Ecuador is that there is a judicial decision -- 11 

again, two judicial decisions, and two judicial 12 

decisions I think you really must read because if 13 

they are correctly decided, and I think they are, 14 

and they're certainly thoughtful, there's no 15 

evidence of bad faith, that has decided the issue as 16 

a matter of not only Ecuadorian law but 17 

international law. 18 

  Why do I say that?  Because at the end of 19 

the day, there were two competing international law 20 

obligations. 21 

  And again, we've been at this for five 22 
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years.  Chevron has never offered -- maybe they will 1 

in their post-hearing world, but Chevron has never 2 

offered a way out whereby Ecuador could comply not 3 

only with the obligations under the Human Rights 4 

Convention, but simultaneously under the interim 5 

awards.  The obligations are mutually exclusive.  6 

And that is the conundrum. 7 

  By the way, no different than in the 8 

Medellin case, there were two legal regimes that 9 

were competing against one another.  And the Supreme 10 

Court said, under those circumstances, 11 

notwithstanding the fact that we have an interim 12 

award from the ICJ to reconsider the imposition of 13 

the death penalty, that we, the United States, 14 

cannot honor that.  And Ecuador is not in any 15 

different position. 16 

  MS. LAURY:  Good afternoon.   17 

  Chevron asserts that Ecuador has taken 18 

numerous actions since 2012 that demonstrate a lack 19 

of good faith with respect to the interim awards, 20 

including since the last GSP hearing in this matter 21 

in January of 2016. 22 
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  For example, according to Chevron, 1 

Ecuador's Attorney General has released eight videos 2 

and a full-length movie denouncing the arbitral 3 

tribunal and the arbitral process.  Does Ecuador 4 

consider these actions relevant in assessing whether 5 

Ecuador is acting in good faith with respect to the 6 

interim award? 7 

  MR. BLOOM:  I put on my glasses to answer 8 

that one. 9 

  A little bit of context really will help 10 

you.  The short answer is no.  There is a chasm 11 

between what the courts do, and this is 12 

fundamentally a legal question that was submitted to 13 

the courts for resolution. 14 

  So that's on the one hand.  And then you 15 

have, on the other hand, political statements.  And 16 

this has become a politicized case.  I would argue 17 

that Chevron is every bit as responsible, if not 18 

more responsible than Ecuador is. 19 

  And I say that because -- and here is the 20 

context, we were in receipt of an early interim 21 

measure from the tribunal, and we couldn't tell 22 
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whether it was directed just to counsel, or counsel 1 

and the parties, basically to refrain from public 2 

comments. 3 

  And we took a very cautious view, and for 4 

about 18 months, not only the lawyers but Ecuador 5 

really muzzled itself in a lot of ways.  It 6 

refrained from engaging Chevron in the public 7 

relations realm.  And we wound up going to the 8 

tribunal several times saying we're not engaging in 9 

a public relations campaign, nor should they.  And 10 

we were getting silence from them. 11 

  And I actually said that -- this is a 12 

couple of years later, this is a January 2014 13 

hearing.  I said to the tribunal, we didn't know 14 

where the lines were, and as a result, we took a 15 

very cautious view and extended it beyond counsel.  16 

For 18 months, there was no heated political 17 

rhetoric. 18 

  So we have what we perceive to be really 19 

an imbalance in terms of the enforcement of the 20 

message that was sent. 21 

  If you combined, by the way, what's 22 
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happened over the last couple of years, which have 1 

been a very systematic, very aggressive public 2 

relations campaign against Ecuador -- it has gone 3 

after the judiciary, has gone after the President, 4 

has gone after public officials, in many, many 5 

public forms. 6 

  You combine it with a legislative strategy 7 

employed by Chevron.  This dispute has aggravated, 8 

has been aggravated.  It has metastasized.  It is 9 

now a political dispute.  It's a legislative 10 

dispute.  It's a public relations dispute.  It did 11 

not have to be this way. 12 

  And then we go through, it's been 18 13 

months, and we're looking for help.  And what does 14 

the tribunal say?  We're not imposing any gag order 15 

or seeking to do or seeking to muzzle either side.  16 

We're not trying to tell Chevron what to do or what 17 

the state of Ecuador ought to do. 18 

  And we have some of these quotes in our 19 

submission.  The tribunal has fully accepted the 20 

fact, or maybe has given up on the parties; I don't 21 

know which it is.  But this public relations battle 22 
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has continued. 1 

  I will say, as a lawyer, it's not 2 

something that I encourage.  It's not something I 3 

particularly care for.  But Ecuador is allowed to 4 

respond to Chevron's public relations statements.  5 

Chevron has complained about Ecuador's public 6 

relations, but I see that as on one level. 7 

  The tribunal, I think, has made it very 8 

clear that both sides have an opportunity to 9 

exercise what we will consider First Amendment 10 

rights. 11 

  Chevron complains about a book that the 12 

Attorney General published.  I encourage you to read 13 

it.  They say it's biased.  Yes.  It's Ecuador's 14 

point of view.  It's an academic type of book.  But 15 

all sides are allowed to go ahead, and all sides 16 

have availed themselves of the opportunity to 17 

provide their sides in the public space. 18 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Chevron describes the Lago 19 

Agrio plaintiffs' ongoing actions to enforce the 20 

Lago Agrio judgment in multiple jurisdictions, 21 

including Canada, Brazil, and Argentina.  Has the 22 
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Government of Ecuador assisted the plaintiffs in any 1 

manner in their actions to enforce the Lago Agrio 2 

judgment in these jurisdictions? 3 

  MR. BLOOM:  Short answer is no.  I 4 

believe, and I might be mistaken -- I know that 5 

we've not prepared any amicus briefs.  We certainly 6 

have no heads up when the plaintiffs are doing 7 

something.  There's not coordination. 8 

  Ecuador always reserves its right to 9 

defend the Ecuadorian court system.  And we -- I 10 

have submitted amicus briefs in the Second Circuit 11 

for the sole purpose of defending the Ecuadorian 12 

judiciary.  And that is a sovereign right that I 13 

think Ecuador will always reserve unto itself. 14 

  But aside from defending the integrity of 15 

the Ecuadorian judiciary, the answer would be no. 16 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 17 

  MS. PAREKH:  Ecuador notes that it has 18 

recently moved, in arbitral proceedings, to 19 

terminate the interim awards and has appealed to the 20 

Dutch Supreme Court to set aside the interim awards.  21 

When does Ecuador expect that that review of the 22 
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interim awards in these proceedings will be 1 

completed? 2 

  MR. BLOOM:  My understanding from Dutch 3 

counsel is that we're looking for a decision by the 4 

Supreme Court of the Netherlands in or about 5 

year-end 2018, I believe.  We also have two pending 6 

applications before the tribunal. 7 

  By way of background, Chevron, when it 8 

sought the interim awards, had represented to the 9 

tribunal, based on documents or representations from 10 

the indigenous plaintiffs' counsel, that the 11 

plaintiffs were seeking to enforce the judgment in 12 

quote/unquote, "dozens of countries," that Chevron 13 

was facing the threat of dozens of enforcement 14 

actions, all to be initiated simultaneously, with 15 

the seizure of Chevron vessels and product. 16 

  We filed something to the tribunal several 17 

months ago, June I believe, maybe July, saying after 18 

5½ years, we now know that those representations or 19 

those predictions have not come true.  You were 20 

looking at only three enforcement actions five years 21 

ago; we're still only looking at three enforcement 22 
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actions. 1 

  We mentioned five years ago that those 2 

enforcement actions would take many years.  Our 3 

predictions have turned out to be right. 4 

  So we've asked the tribunal to dissolve 5 

the interim awards on the basis that the basis on 6 

which they were initially granted have proven to be 7 

false.  I actually would have predicted that we 8 

would have heard from the tribunal by now.  We could 9 

hear at any time.  We just don't know. 10 

  The other petition was one for 11 

reconsideration, which we filed in 2013.  The 12 

tribunal twice affirmatively acknowledged and 13 

accepted that petition for reconsideration and said 14 

that it would consider it in track 3, which is the 15 

next phase of the arbitration.  We are currently 16 

waiting for track 2 to conclude.  We're waiting for 17 

this next award. 18 

  They have predicted and gave a target date 19 

of summer of 2017.  So we're looking at that award 20 

at any time. 21 

  MR. KARAWA:  As noted, Ecuador contends 22 
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that it is unable to comply with the interim awards 1 

because of limitations under Ecuadorian law with 2 

respect to the separation of powers.  Can Ecuador 3 

comment on Chevron's assessment that both the Dutch 4 

district and appellate courts found that the interim 5 

awards did not require the Government of Ecuador to 6 

breach the separation of powers? 7 

  MR. BLOOM:  With a caveat, yes.  The 8 

caveat is -- and this is where I agree with 9 

Mr. Bishop.  And sometimes in this case, agreement 10 

is hard to find.  But he is correct that the award 11 

is directed against the entirety of Ecuador. 12 

  So one means by which compliance could be 13 

had is instead of the President or the Attorney 14 

General suspending enforcement of the Lago Agrio 15 

decision, which could not be done because it would 16 

be unconstitutional and would violate the separation 17 

of the respective branches, the judiciary itself 18 

could decide to suspend the Lago Agrio judgment. 19 

  And I believe, based on those awards, it 20 

would have, had it not been for the competing 21 

international law obligations under the Inter-22 
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American Convention on Human Rights. 1 

  So that's the reason why -- so it's not an 2 

issue of separation, if the judiciary could do it.  3 

In this particular case, the judiciary chose or 4 

found that it was unable to comply because of the 5 

competing obligations. 6 

  MS. BLUNT:  Just one more question.  In 7 

your submission, you noted that as a factual matter, 8 

arbitral tribunals did not have authority to grant 9 

interim measures or awards at the time the Taft 10 

Amendment was enacted as support, among other 11 

arguments, for the idea that the statute does not 12 

contemplate interim awards. 13 

  The first panel referenced inherent 14 

authority, and that certain tribunals may have 15 

issued interim awards or orders under inherent 16 

authority.  Just curious, and defer to you whether 17 

it will be in post-hearing briefs or here, whether 18 

you have any thoughts on that. 19 

  MR. BLOOM:  Well, that's the first I'd 20 

heard of it, too.  So it's something we will have to 21 

look.  What we did note in our papers is when 22 
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various arbitral bodies allowed interim awards by 1 

rule, neither the Geneva Protocol Convention nor the 2 

New York Convention made any reference to interim 3 

measures for awards. 4 

  The ICC Rules first allowed interim 5 

measures and awards in 1998.  AAA Commercial Rules 6 

and the Hong Kong Rules did so beginning in 2013, 7 

the Stockholm Arbitration Institute in 2007, the 8 

UNCITRAL Rules in 1976, still more than a year after 9 

Congress adopted the GSP. 10 

  So I think it's -- you know, let me just 11 

add one more thing here, because I think, at the end 12 

of the day -- and I think this is really critical, 13 

because Chevron keeps coming back and saying these 14 

interim awards are binding, they're binding, they're 15 

binding, and that ends the analysis. 16 

  Well, three very important points to make, 17 

if I may.  The first is I think it's very doubtful 18 

that this particular interim award is, in fact, 19 

binding under U.S. law.  I don't think the U.S. 20 

courts would actually enforce this. 21 

  Why do I say that?  Because the U.S. 22 
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Supreme Court, in Medellin, specifically said, and 1 

I'm quoting now -- this is at 552 U.S. 522, foreign 2 

judgments awarding injunctive relief against private 3 

parties, let alone sovereign states, quote, "are not 4 

generally entitled to enforcement."  So I don't 5 

think that they would be binding in the U.S. 6 

  Second, however, the Ecuadorian Court of 7 

Appeal acknowledges that, at least under its law, it 8 

would ordinarily consider it binding but it has this 9 

competing obligation. 10 

  But the threshold issue here is not 11 

whether these awards are currently binding.  I 12 

submit that's the wrong question.  The question is 13 

whether Congress intended to include within the 14 

ambit of its eligibility criteria interim awards, 15 

where they are, by definition, temporary and could 16 

terminate tomorrow, where they're not on the merits, 17 

where at least in this case I don't believe 18 

enforceable in the U.S., most importantly, I think, 19 

where there are viable challenges to the interim 20 

awards' very legality. 21 

  And I'm happy to share any of the briefs 22 
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that we have on that.  At the end of the day, I 1 

think it would be terribly, a very bad thing to 2 

disrupt bilateral relations on the basis of an 3 

interim award that is subsequently determined to be 4 

unlawful and invalid and in circumstances where the 5 

statute was enacted at a time that arbitral 6 

tribunals did not have the authority of issuing 7 

interim awards and where Congress declined to 8 

require compliance with related domestic court 9 

provisional orders. 10 

  But I think that's the question: what was 11 

Congress's intent?  It's not the issue of whether 12 

it's binding. 13 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  If I could ask you a 14 

follow-up question about this, and this was alluded 15 

to in the first panel, but GSP, I think, has been 16 

renewed 13 times since it was initially enacted in 17 

1974.  And some of those times they have updated the 18 

eligibility criteria, but certainly, every time it's 19 

been renewed, Congress has sort of looked at the 20 

program. 21 

  In your view, if it -- if there -- if they 22 
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didn't intend to include interim awards in sort of 1 

the definition of awards at the beginning, why 2 

didn't they amend it at some point? 3 

  MR. BLOOM:  I don't know that it was 4 

ever -- I mean, we've looked through the legislative 5 

history.  I have never seen this issue flagged 6 

before Congress ever.  And nor has Chevron offered 7 

anything to it either. 8 

  I'm virtually certain that the legislative 9 

history here will show that it was never raised 10 

before any of the committees, subcommittees, on the 11 

floor, or on the President's desk, ever. 12 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.   13 

  Okay.  So thank you very much for your 14 

testimony and the questions.  I'd now like to turn 15 

to Mr. Montalvo for a final thought. 16 

  MR. MONTALVO:  Thank you very much, 17 

Mr. Herfindahl and members of the GSP Subcommittee. 18 

  The bilateral trade between Ecuador and 19 

the United States has positive impacts for both 20 

countries and their private sectors.  Ecuadorian and 21 

American entrepreneurs and businesses have 22 
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identified opportunities for innovation, and the 1 

commercial relation has increased and diversified in 2 

important ways during the last decade. 3 

  We also share democratic values, and both 4 

countries have strived to secure the aspiration of 5 

our nationals for better futures and improved lives.  6 

We also collaborate closely in the fight against 7 

transnational illegal and criminal activities, 8 

including human trafficking, drug trafficking, and 9 

organized crime. 10 

  We share information, and our agencies 11 

work closely together to defend our region, our 12 

countries, and our citizens.  Ecuador and the United 13 

States also share another trait.  Both countries 14 

have new administrations, and the governments have 15 

expressed their intention to continue in the path to 16 

bring both countries closer together. 17 

  Developing stronger ties and strengthening 18 

the bilateral relations require the political will 19 

and effort of both countries.  And the new 20 

administrations should have the appropriate space to 21 

channel their policies in ways that reflect their 22 
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desire to improve the wellbeing of our nationals. 1 

  The petition before the Subcommittee, if 2 

accepted, wants to prioritize the particular 3 

interest of one company above the broader, vibrant 4 

bilateral relations.  The opportunities that two new 5 

administrations offer should not be hindered by the 6 

interest of one company. 7 

  This case has legal avenues.  And those 8 

should be the venue to argue those private 9 

disagreements.  Ecuador and the U.S. have a long 10 

history of shared interests and cooperation, and 11 

they should remain the foundation of our 12 

relationship.   13 

  Thank you very much. 14 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you very much for 15 

your statement, Mr. Montalvo. 16 

  So we will adjourn this hearing until 17 

1:30, when we will take up consideration of 18 

Indonesia.  Thank you. 19 

  (Whereupon, at 12:48 p.m., a luncheon 20 

recess was taken.) 21 

 22 
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A F T E R N O O N   S E S S I O N 1 

(1:35 p.m.) 2 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Good afternoon, 3 

everyone.  We have some changes on the panel this 4 

morning, and I recognize most of the people in the 5 

audience weren't here this morning either.  So I 6 

think we'll go ahead and reintroduce the U.S. 7 

government panel. 8 

  But my name is Erland Herfindahl.  I'm the 9 

Deputy Assistant USTR for GSP. 10 

  MR. KARAWA:  And Omar Karawa from the 11 

Department of Agriculture. 12 

  MS. SALZMAN:  Rachel Salzman, Department 13 

of Commerce. 14 

  MS. PETTIS:  Maureen Pettis, Department of 15 

Labor. 16 

  MS. PETERSON:  Christine Peterson, Office 17 

of the U.S. Trade Representative. 18 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Carol Henninger, 19 

Department of State. 20 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Renee Mathieu, Department of 21 

Treasury. 22 
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  MR. CULLINANE:  Matt Cullinane, USAID. 1 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you.   2 

  So we will begin this afternoon's session 3 

with consideration of the GSP case on Indonesia. 4 

  So, Mr. Rosenbaum, please proceed with 5 

your statement. 6 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Thank you very much. 7 

  Good afternoon, members of the 8 

Subcommittee.  My name is Kevin Rosenbaum.  I am 9 

pleased to be here on behalf of the International 10 

Intellectual Property Alliance, a coalition of five 11 

copyright-based trade associations, to speak on the 12 

IPR and market access GSP country practices review 13 

of Indonesia. 14 

  IIPA submitted our petition in 2011, 15 

seeking concrete results on barriers to trade in 16 

U.S. creative products in Indonesia, particularly a 17 

lack of adequate and effective intellectual property 18 

rights protection and enforcement and a lack of 19 

equitable and reasonable access to the Indonesian 20 

market. 21 

  While additional work remains, IIPA 22 
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recognizes that the Indonesian government has made 1 

progress addressing our concerns and recommends that 2 

the U.S. government terminate the investigation once 3 

it is satisfied that the Government of Indonesia has 4 

made adequate progress remedying remaining 5 

deficiencies, which have been outlined in our pre-6 

hearing brief and previous filing. 7 

  Beginning on a positive note, the 8 

Indonesian government should be commended for recent 9 

actions to address internet piracy, including 10 

updating its copyright law in 2014 and enacting 11 

Regulations Numbers 14 and 26 of 2015, which 12 

implemented key provisions of the copyright law 13 

regarding digital infringement, in line with 14 

Indonesia's international obligations. 15 

  Pursuant to this new legislation, 16 

Indonesia has recently taken effective actions 17 

against online piracy, including by disabling access 18 

to 85 primarily infringing websites in 2015 and 19 

2016, including to a notorious market for infringing 20 

music known as Stafaband. 21 

  While there has certainly been progress, 22 
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high piracy levels persist, and more work is 1 

necessary to ensure adequate and effective 2 

intellectual property rights protection and 3 

enforcement.  In a given month, 18 million copies of 4 

pirated films, music, and software are circulating 5 

in the Indonesian market. 6 

  The local film and recording industries 7 

report substantial losses due to piracy.  Infringing 8 

cyberlocker, video linking and streaming sites, and 9 

direct download sites with pirated content continue 10 

to harm the market and inhibit the growth of 11 

legitimate services. 12 

  Indonesia must also increase its efforts 13 

against other forms of piracy, including the 14 

proliferation of illicit streaming devices, which 15 

facilitate access to pirated motion picture and 16 

television content, book piracy, signal piracy, and 17 

the longstanding retail piracy problem. 18 

  While enforcement against online piracy 19 

has improved, as I've mentioned, there are still few 20 

enforcement raids, fewer prosecutions, and rights 21 

holders face many legal challenges to adequately 22 
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enforce their rights. 1 

  The Government of Indonesia should take at 2 

least the following actions to address these 3 

problems: 4 

  Devote additional resources to ensuring 5 

continued enforcement of the copyright law under 6 

Regulations 14 and 26 of 2015, including blocking of 7 

additional primary infringing websites; 8 

  Systematically target the problem of 9 

primarily infringing websites, for example, by 10 

developing an infringing website list initiative, 11 

similar to that used in countries like the UK, to 12 

combat advertising by brands and advertising 13 

networks which sustains these sites, and addressing 14 

sites such as cyberlockers that are not covered by 15 

the current blocking regime; 16 

  Take steps to combat internet streaming 17 

devices and the infringing app ecosystem that 18 

supports them, and commit to judicial reforms in 19 

Jakarta and other commercial centers, and establish 20 

special criminal court. 21 

  Our brief also highlights a number of 22 
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legislative improvements that should be made, 1 

including repealing the broad copyright exception 2 

related to internet uses, clarifying or removing 3 

provisions in the copyright law that provide that 4 

rights and music and performances transferred by 5 

sale revert back to the author or performer after 25 6 

years, extending copyright protection term for sound 7 

recording, cinematic works, and video games to at 8 

least 70 years, in line with evolving global norms, 9 

ensuring that copyright infringement is considered a 10 

predicate offense under anti-organized crime laws, 11 

and clarifying the government's e-commerce roadmap 12 

launched in 2016, including Circular Letter 5 on 13 

user-generated content, and any related regulations 14 

regarding takedown requirements and sanctions, to 15 

ensure that the full scope of the making available 16 

or communication to the public right is fully 17 

preserved and available to rights holders, and that 18 

rights holders have the opportunity to comment and 19 

consult. 20 

  Turning to market access, just as there 21 

have been improvements of online enforcement, 22 
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Indonesia has also recently made progress improving 1 

access to its markets for the U.S. copyright 2 

industries. 3 

  In May 2016, the government issued Decree 4 

44, removing film and recording studios from the 5 

Negative Investment List and enabling 100 percent 6 

foreign direct investment in film and sound 7 

recording production and film distribution and 8 

exhibition. 9 

  While this is a very positive development, 10 

it is important that it is not undermined by other 11 

market barriers that persist.  The reduction and 12 

eventual elimination of market access impediments is 13 

a key component of ongoing efforts to combat piracy 14 

in Indonesia. 15 

  The Government of Indonesia should take at 16 

least the following actions to assure that it will 17 

provide equitable and reasonable access to its 18 

markets for creative materials: 19 

  Issue clear guidelines on the 20 

implementation of Decree 44 and fulfill its promise 21 

to also remove radio and television broadcasting 22 
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services from the Negative Investment List; 1 

  Eliminate the numerous problematic 2 

restrictions from the film law that impede foreign 3 

participation in the film sector; 4 

  Remove the requirement from the 5 

broadcasting law that television advertising must be 6 

locally produced; 7 

  Eliminate discriminatory customs duties on 8 

the importation of foreign films; 9 

  And permanently repeal the regulation 10 

requiring local replication of all theatrical prints 11 

and home video titles released in Indonesia. 12 

  Again, IIPA recognizes the progress that 13 

Indonesia has recently made combating piracy and 14 

opening its market to the U.S. creative industries.  15 

That is why we recommend that the U.S. government 16 

terminate this investigation once it is satisfied 17 

that adequate progress has been made by the 18 

Indonesian government to remedy the remaining 19 

concerns I have just described. 20 

  What is the importance of the GSP program 21 

to Indonesia?  In 2016 Indonesia exported goods 22 
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valued at $1.79 billion to the U.S., receiving 1 

preferential duty-free treatment under the GSP 2 

program.  Thus, it is incumbent on the Government of 3 

Indonesia to take the additional steps needed to 4 

ensure it continues to qualify for these enormous 5 

benefits. 6 

  To fix these remaining concerns, IIPA and 7 

its members stand ready to work with the Indonesian 8 

government, including, where appropriate, through 9 

training, technical assistance, and capacity 10 

building. 11 

  Thank you for your attention today and for 12 

undertaking this review.  I look forward to your 13 

questions. 14 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you for your 15 

testimony here today. 16 

  So we'll start our questions with 17 

something from USTR. 18 

  MS. PETERSON:  Hi.  So you opened and 19 

closed your testimony with an explanation of the 20 

recommendation to us to have the -- to close the 21 

petition once the U.S. government is satisfied that 22 



349 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

Indonesia has made adequate progress.  And you also 1 

described some of the progress that IIPA and IIPA's 2 

members have seen. 3 

  So is there -- do you want to elaborate at 4 

all on that progress?  Or can you describe whether 5 

the progress you've seen to date has been steady and 6 

sustained? 7 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  I think -- thank you for 8 

the question.  I don't know that I would describe it 9 

as steady and sustained.  I think there has been, as 10 

I mentioned, some very important steps that have 11 

been taken.  And I think, you know, we would like to 12 

see it continue, and we're hopeful that it will. 13 

  But, you know, I think more definitely 14 

needs to be done.  And, you know, we certainly don't 15 

want to see backsliding or any, you know, any steps 16 

back that undermine the positive steps that have 17 

already been done. 18 

  So, you know, I don't think we're there 19 

yet, I guess, would be my bottom line. 20 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you, Mr. Rosenbaum.  My 21 

question is, I would like you to elaborate further 22 
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which positive actions have been most commercially 1 

significant to your sector. 2 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Thank you.  I think 3 

probably the one I would highlight would be the 4 

Decree 44, opening investment to the film and 5 

recording industry, removing those industries from 6 

the Negative Investment List. 7 

  You know, I think that -- that's a recent 8 

development and, you know, I think we're hopeful, 9 

you know, that that will be commercially 10 

significant. 11 

  The piracy improvements that I mentioned, 12 

you know, I think the problem with piracy is still 13 

very significant in Indonesia.  So in terms of 14 

commercial realization, you know, I think there's 15 

still more to be done there.  But, you know, Decree 16 

44 is a very, very positive step. 17 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you for your 18 

testimony.  Regarding the remaining deficiencies and 19 

suggested remedies outlined in your submission, how 20 

would you prioritize them? 21 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  I think -- that's a 22 
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difficult question.  I think, you know, we would 1 

like to see, you know, overall progress on a variety 2 

of fronts, I guess is what I would say.  You know, 3 

it's difficult just for me to, in this sort of a 4 

hearing, to kind of give you a priority list.  But, 5 

you know, I'm happy to, you know, further discuss, 6 

you know -- I think in our hearing, we do provide -- 7 

frankly, there is more actually that I could have 8 

added into the submission. 9 

  So, in some ways, the submission does 10 

prioritize the most important things that we would 11 

like to see. 12 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you. 13 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you for your 14 

testimony. 15 

  What immediate steps should the Government 16 

of Indonesia take within six months to demonstrate 17 

their sincere interest and intent to address the 18 

gaps and to retain their GSP benefits?  And what 19 

longer steps -- term steps should they take? 20 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  So, you know, immediately, 21 

I think they could certainly bring more resources to 22 
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bear on enforcement.  You know, they've taken some 1 

good steps but, you know, they could, as I 2 

mentioned, start to bring cases, to undertake raids, 3 

to continue to ensure that piracy sites are taken 4 

down. 5 

  You know, I think, on the longer term, you 6 

know, we would like to see the legislative framework 7 

improve.  There are some notable gaps that I 8 

referred to in my testimony.  And I think that 9 

would, you know -- they should be commended for 10 

updating the copyright law in 2014 and implementing 11 

it, but there are still gaps that remain that we 12 

would like to see addressed. 13 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 14 

  MR. CULLINANE:  I'd like to ask what 15 

specific steps do you think Indonesia should take to 16 

combat illicit streaming services? 17 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Thank you.  So I think -- 18 

you know, this question, I think, refers to the 19 

illicit streaming devices that are proliferating in 20 

Indonesia, but you know, frankly, this is actually a 21 

more, a broader problem in the region.  And so, you 22 
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know, by no means is Indonesia alone in trying to 1 

combat this. 2 

  It's a difficult problem.  I think going 3 

and looking at the apps that support these devices, 4 

and that facilitate the infringing content and 5 

working to take down these piracy apps, I think 6 

would be the place to start. 7 

  MS. PETERSON:  Your submission notes that 8 

the 2009 film law contained several provisions that 9 

could limit foreign participation in various aspects 10 

of the film industry, such as screen quotas and a 11 

ban on dubbing imported films. 12 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Right. 13 

  MS. PETERSON:  Do you have any updates or 14 

further details on the current status of any 15 

implementing regulations of the film law or 16 

potential amendments to it? 17 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Unfortunately I don't.  18 

And to refer you to, there are -- you know, I think 19 

I mention in the brief that there implementing 20 

regulations that are being promulgated, but I don't 21 

know where that stands. 22 



354 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

  And that is one source of -- you know, 1 

that's one place where perhaps some of the, those 2 

damaging restrictions can be ameliorated, but I 3 

don't have a current status on that.  I can follow 4 

up with you on that. 5 

  MS. PETERSON:  That would be nice, if you 6 

could follow up on that in your post-hearing brief 7 

and also either in the post-hearing brief or now, 8 

your views on how the implementation of the film law 9 

should factor into our decision regarding this GSP 10 

country practice. 11 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Okay.  Thank you. 12 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Does Indonesia provide 13 

your sector with meaningful opportunities to provide 14 

input on policy decisions, such as on developing and 15 

implementing regulations, drafting new or amended 16 

laws and setting policy priorities? 17 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Thank you.  I'm not sure 18 

sort of globally.  I think it depends.  I think 19 

there have been instances where our industries have 20 

worked together with the government in a positive 21 

way, particularly on some of those recent 22 
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enforcement aspects that I mentioned, of taking down 1 

infringing websites. 2 

  But certainly, in terms of notice and 3 

comment, I think I referred to the circular -- the 4 

e-commerce roadmap, excuse me, in which there is -- 5 

there has -- it's not clear whether rights holders 6 

are going to have an adequate opportunity to notice 7 

and comment, to provide input. 8 

  So, you know, I think -- I don't know that 9 

I want to necessarily paint it with a broad brush, 10 

but in those instances, you know, there has been 11 

some positive and then there has been some 12 

challenges. 13 

  MS. SALZMAN:  How important of a market is 14 

Indonesia to your industry, and does Indonesia set 15 

an example that other countries follow? 16 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  I think Indonesia is an 17 

extremely important market.  You know, I think -- 18 

you know, it's tough.  I'm not sure I can fully 19 

comment on whether other countries take a lead from 20 

Indonesia.  You know, an example is not coming to my 21 

mind on that. 22 
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  But, you know, certainly Indonesia is a 1 

very important -- it's a big market and a very 2 

meaningful one.  So, you know, we think it is 3 

important for, you know, Indonesia to, you know, to 4 

be -- it's a very challenging market for the 5 

copyright sector and, you know, it would be an 6 

extremely beneficial thing if some of these issues 7 

on enforcement and market access were cleaned up. 8 

  MR. KARAWA:  My question, some of the 9 

issues here you have already alluded to, but I would 10 

like if you could elaborate further. 11 

  One, your submission acknowledges that the 12 

online enforcement environment in Indonesia has 13 

improved.  Nonetheless, it states that other 14 

enforcement areas remain challenging and notes that 15 

there are few enforcement raids, fewer prosecutions, 16 

and that in general, the legal system is 17 

challenging. 18 

  What steps would you recommend Indonesia 19 

undertake to improve these other areas, and which 20 

can be achieved in the near term? 21 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  So I think, as a -- you 22 
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know, as I mentioned, certainly, you know, there's 1 

plenty more to be done in these other areas.  You 2 

know, the book piracy, for example, you know, 3 

they're -- the copy shops that, you know, copy 4 

textbooks, you know, there's more that can be done 5 

to, you know, to shut those down. 6 

  In the near term, there can be more raids, 7 

more prosecutions, as I mentioned. 8 

  And the second part of your question was?  9 

Is there a -- 10 

  MR. KARAWA:  That's the second part. 11 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Oh, okay.  I thought -- 12 

  MR. KARAWA:  I was hoping, in general, 13 

what steps would you recommend Indonesia take in the 14 

near term. 15 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Okay. 16 

  MR. KARAWA:  All of the sectors. 17 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Yeah.  So, you know, 18 

certainly more, you know, more enforcement actions, 19 

you know, against these other forms of piracy, as I 20 

mentioned. 21 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you. 22 
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  MR. ROSENBAUM:  There was one other thing, 1 

the -- that I thought alluded in your question.  2 

Judicial reform is also -- you know, I think 3 

opinions are not published in Indonesia.  I think 4 

that's one area.  And there's a number of steps, 5 

because you asked about challenges to rights holders 6 

in terms of protecting their rights. 7 

  And there are, you know, things like that, 8 

that could be done to make the judicial system more 9 

accessible. 10 

  MR. KARAWA:  Are you confident that 11 

judicial reform could be done in a short time? 12 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  You know, am I confident?  13 

I'm an optimistic person.  I don't -- you know, it's 14 

possible. 15 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well -- excuse me.  16 

Thank you very much for your testimony and your 17 

answering of our questions today. 18 

  MR. ROSENBAUM:  Sure.  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  So I would ask that we 20 

turn to consideration of Ukraine now.  So I would 21 

ask if Mr. Schwartz would please come to the front 22 
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please. 1 

  So please proceed when you're ready, 2 

Mr. Schwartz. 3 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  The 4 

International Intellectual Property Alliance, a 5 

coalition of five copyright industry trade 6 

associations, appreciates this opportunity to appear 7 

today on the GSP hearing on Ukraine. 8 

  The IIPA first filed this petition in 9 

2011.  I filed the petition, and I last testified 10 

here in 2013.  Little has improved since we filed.  11 

To the contrary, the copyright deficiencies that 12 

IIPA set out in our filing persist and in some ways 13 

have worsened in the past five years as technologies 14 

for and organizations engaged in the dissemination 15 

of unauthorized copyrighted materials have grown 16 

more sophisticated. 17 

  Our two most persistent problems are 18 

(1) an unfair and non-transparent administration of 19 

collective administrative rights, mostly relevant to 20 

the music industry and (2) the failure of the 21 

Government of Ukraine to implement effective and 22 



360 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

systematic means of combating the widespread online 1 

infringement of copyright and related rights. 2 

  Ukraine is a key country in the region for 3 

effective enforcement of IPR because it exports 4 

piracy, especially digital piracy, into both 5 

European Union markets and other countries 6 

regionally. 7 

  At the time we filed the GSP petition, it 8 

was an addendum to the Special 301 investigation and 9 

ultimate designation of Ukraine as a Priority 10 

Foreign Country in 2013 by the U.S. Trade 11 

Representative. 12 

  The PFC designation was based on finding 13 

the same two identical problems I just mentioned on 14 

collective administration and online infringement, 15 

and a third issue relating to infringing software by 16 

Ukrainian government agencies. 17 

  For political reasons, as you well know, 18 

the PFC designation was suspended in 2014, and 19 

Ukraine has been on the Priority Watch List for the 20 

past few years.  But the USTR-identified problems at 21 

the time of the PFC designation have never been 22 
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corrected, as USTR has repeatedly said in its 1 

Special 301 report in 2015, 2016, and again in April 2 

2017. 3 

  There's a long history of reviewing 4 

Ukraine's eligibility for GSP benefits.  The first 5 

petition was filed in 1999, also by me and the IIPA.  6 

So we have a long history on these issues, for those 7 

keeping score, 18 years now. 8 

  Today's hearing is intended to determine 9 

whether Ukraine qualifies under U.S. law to continue 10 

to receive benefit, which last year totaled a little 11 

over $50 million. 12 

  In short, until it makes significant 13 

problems [sic] on these identified problems, IIPA 14 

believes the U.S. government should consider 15 

suspending Ukraine's GSP benefits in whole or in 16 

part. 17 

  We very much appreciate the efforts of the 18 

U.S. government and of the Government of Ukraine to 19 

seriously address these issues.  And as always, our 20 

goal is not to deny trade benefits but to fix our 21 

problems.  In that spirit, we very much look forward 22 
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to working with the Government of Ukraine, as we 1 

have in the past, to try to address these problems. 2 

  Ukraine has made several bilateral 3 

commitments to the United States to improve its IPR 4 

regime, which if properly implemented, would have 5 

addressed these problems.  I'm referring to the 2010 6 

IPR Action Plan, the 2000 Joint Action Plan, and the 7 

1992 Bilateral Trade Agreement. 8 

  Turning now to the two key concerns, just 9 

briefly, let me just talk briefly about our two key 10 

issues:   11 

  First, collecting societies.  In April 12 

2017, USTR acknowledged in a Special 301 report that 13 

quote, "With respect to unauthorized collective 14 

management organizations, little has changed."  We 15 

agree.  And that's been true since the PFC 16 

designation in 2013 and since our filing in 2011 on 17 

the GSP petition. 18 

  There is little new news to report since 19 

April 2017.  There are several draft bills, often 20 

competing with each other, and unfortunately little 21 

transparency with the Government of Ukraine or 22 
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sharing with experts on the drafts, as they've 1 

worked their way through various agencies, and more 2 

importantly, how they would transition from the 3 

current chaotic situation to the new proposals. 4 

  Collecting societies in the music sector, 5 

specifically in connection with broadcasting, public 6 

performances, and certain other communications to 7 

the public can provide an effective and 8 

indispensable means for licensing. 9 

  The current collective administration 10 

system in Ukraine, with 18 competing collecting 11 

societies, is chaotic and will not be corrected 12 

until the accreditation procedures are fixed. 13 

  The IIPA goals -- without addressing 14 

specifically the draft bills, let me just give six 15 

points on our goals of what collective 16 

administration should look like and does look like 17 

in most countries. 18 

  One, it shouldn't favor any one collecting 19 

society or propose special treatment. 20 

  Two, the main criterion for accreditation 21 

should be to accredit the organization based on a 22 
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majority of national and international repertoire 1 

represented, and the organization should be owned 2 

and managed by rights holders. 3 

  Three, the accreditation process should 4 

reflect commercial realities. 5 

  Four, it should be based on, as I said, on 6 

a society representing the majority of commercially 7 

relevant rights and repertoire, not just the number 8 

of songs. 9 

  Five, the society should operate with 10 

maximum transparency and accountability, that is, 11 

fair governance. 12 

  And, six, the solution must allow rights 13 

holders to choose how to administer their rights in 14 

Ukraine. 15 

  Now we've -- I'm sure I'll be asked 16 

questions about the draft laws, but let me just say 17 

this about the draft laws.  If you go back and look 18 

at the transcript of this hearing from 2013, or for 19 

that matter 2011, you'll see that there were 20 

discussions about draft laws, proposals, some well 21 

intended, some perhaps less so. 22 
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  But none of them have been enacted, so the 1 

problem of talking about draft laws is just 2 

perpetuating a problem and never actually fixing it. 3 

  The second issue we addressed, and I'll be 4 

very brief, is internet enforcement.  Also, in the 5 

Special 301 report, U.S. Trade Representative 6 

commented, quote, "Online piracy remains a 7 

significant problem in Ukraine and fuels piracy in 8 

other markets," closed quote. 9 

  And, you know, there's no space between 10 

the U.S. government and the copyright industries on 11 

the problems in Ukraine.  The only problem is 12 

between the Government of Ukraine properly 13 

addressing these problems. 14 

  There are several notorious websites 15 

hosted in Ukraine by Ukrainian internet service 16 

providers that, while identified to the Ukrainian 17 

enforcement officials, continue to act with 18 

impunity. 19 

  While some notable sites have come down in 20 

recent years, which is an improvement, as again, to 21 

quote the 301 report from this past April, quote, 22 
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"Few offenders have been prosecuted for these 1 

serious crimes," close quote. 2 

  So the key to enforcement -- I'll just -- 3 

two quick bullet points, focus criminal enforcement 4 

on the owners and operators and syndicates of the 5 

numerous fee-streaming, pay-per-download sites as 6 

well as peer-to-peer and BitTorrent sites, and two, 7 

focus criminal enforcement on the owners and 8 

operators of open air and street market piracy, 9 

especially large outdoor markets. 10 

  And, last, coordinate enforcement among 11 

the key agencies, the Ministry of Internal Affairs, 12 

the General Prosecutor's Office in respect to 13 

enforcement practices and investigations.  But 14 

unfortunately, the Government of Ukraine hasn't 15 

taken these steps. 16 

  And, last, there are a number of market 17 

access issues which are also, as you well know, 18 

criteria for GSP eligibility.  We identify them in 19 

the filing, and I won't say anything further on 20 

them, but they do impact the motion picture 21 

industry, in particular. 22 
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  In sum, we recommend that the U.S. 1 

government consider suspending, in whole or in part, 2 

Ukraine's GSP benefits unless substantial progress 3 

is made to address these longstanding problems.   4 

  And I'd be happy to answer any questions 5 

that you have about our filing.  Thank you. 6 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you, Mr. Schwartz, for 7 

your testimony today. 8 

  You've provided a historical account of 9 

Ukraine's participation in the GSP program, 10 

including the suspension of Ukraine's GSP benefits 11 

from August 2001 to January of 2006, for IP reasons, 12 

in particular. 13 

  What are the differences between IIPA's 14 

1999 petition and the situation in the early aughts 15 

to IIPA's petition a decade later in 2011 and the 16 

situation we have now? 17 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you for the question, 18 

and thank you for the memory test. 19 

  So my recollection of the 1999 petition 20 

and the issues that ultimately were resolved at the 21 

presidential level, U.S. and Ukrainian, was the 22 
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issue of optical disc piracy, production, and 1 

distribution. 2 

  Ukraine was operating multiple unregulated 3 

optical disc plants.  Those are, for those of you 4 

unfamiliar and who maybe remember, CDs and DVDs, 5 

which is obviously falling in the rearview mirror 6 

for the copyright industries as a mode of 7 

dissemination; they were the prime mode of 8 

dissemination in the 1990s and the 2000s. 9 

  And these plants, which were -- a plant or 10 

machine was probably the size of the table that 11 

you're sitting at, could produce 10,000 disks a day 12 

with two operators and the proper equipment.  And 13 

that was just one machine, and those plants had 14 

multiple machines in them, and there were five major 15 

plants, which the government refused for a long time 16 

to either identify and/or to take any actions 17 

against. 18 

  In I believe it was 2005, they finally 19 

shuttered those plants.  And that was sufficient for 20 

the U.S. government to close the investigation on 21 

301 and also the suspension of GSP. 22 
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  But obviously, that was a technological 1 

solution of now 12 years ago, and things have moved 2 

on.  And as I recall, at the time, there was still a 3 

lot of discussion about all the other IPR problems 4 

that still remained in Ukraine, and as I said, in 5 

not just Ukraine, obviously around the world, as the 6 

technology changed, digital technology and the like, 7 

that the changes have morphed into different 8 

problems. 9 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you for your 10 

testimony. 11 

  In your written submission, you note that 12 

piracy rates are exceedingly high, noted on page 3.  13 

Is there a numerical or relative value for piracy 14 

rates in Ukraine?  How do piracy rates in Ukraine 15 

compare to other countries to which the United 16 

States provides preferential market access, such as 17 

GSP benefits or through FTA agreements? 18 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  So the answer to the first 19 

part of your question on piracy rates and losses, 20 

something that the IIPA historically, we're now 30-21 

some-odd years old, had done for a long time but 22 



370 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

stopped some years ago.  Very difficult to 1 

accurately get, both piracy rates and actual dollar 2 

losses. 3 

  It's not impossible, and it's been done, 4 

for instance, in the punishment phase of the GSP 5 

proceedings, but not anything that we've done 6 

recently.  So I just don't have numbers. 7 

  What we do know, and what you can see is 8 

the statistical numbers based on an economy and 9 

based on what copyrighted materials would sell for 10 

in the economy, you can tell what your revenues are.  11 

And they are significantly below what they should be 12 

in other comparable countries, whether in music or 13 

film or book publishing, which is what leads us to 14 

that, you know, that statement. 15 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you.  Okay.  Thank you 16 

very much. 17 

  MS. SALZMAN:  Thank you for your 18 

testimony. 19 

  IIPA's submission hit on a troublesome 20 

concept, which was that Ukraine's legal framework 21 

and enforcement for IP affects not only the 22 
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Ukrainian market for music, movies, games, and 1 

publications, but other markets as well. 2 

  You mentioned this a little bit, but if 3 

you could flesh out a bit what you mean by "exports 4 

piracy," can you elaborate how that happens, how 5 

Ukraine exports piracy and how this affects the 6 

ability of IIPA's member companies to compete in 7 

other markets? 8 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Sure.  Thank you for the 9 

question. 10 

  Obviously, digital piracy doesn't respect 11 

borders, and so notorious markets, online websites, 12 

whether they're free sites, whether they're download 13 

sites, whether they're peer-to-peer or BitTorrent 14 

that originate in a country that's not conducting 15 

enforcement, like Ukraine, can offer these materials 16 

for free into countries around the world. 17 

  And so they -- you know, this is the free 18 

competing with whatever is the local authorized 19 

markets.  And even, I should say, you know, "free" 20 

maybe should be a term stated in air quotes because 21 

even what is provided, for instance, on music 22 
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services, subscriber versus nonsubscriber obviously 1 

has ad-based revenue, which is shared with rights 2 

holders, whether fairly or not is a question not for 3 

this hearing, but is shared with rights holders. 4 

  But these unauthorized sites in Ukraine 5 

aren't providing any revenue to any of the rights 6 

holders. 7 

  MS. PETERSON:  That's probably a good 8 

segue to this next question, which is one of the 9 

examples of online piracy from your submission and 10 

your testimony are websites that contain music and 11 

audiovisual content that claim to be licensed by 12 

rogue Ukrainian collection societies. 13 

  And in USTR's own 2016 Notorious Markets 14 

List, we included one site, Mp3va, that was listed 15 

as an example of sites that claim to have a license, 16 

that sell music tracks for literally pennies, and 17 

whose operators appear to be based in Ukraine. 18 

  This alleged activity is really a bold 19 

affront to legitimate music distribution models.  20 

How does IIPA define a rogue collecting society, and 21 

what can the Government of Ukraine do to put a stop 22 
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to this practice? 1 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you for the question 2 

and the lead-in into the question, which really 3 

defines the problem. 4 

  A rogue collecting society is one that 5 

claims to represent a rights holder when they 6 

haven't been authorized to do so.  Essentially, all 7 

a collecting society is, as in the United States, is 8 

an agent for a rights holder, where the rights 9 

holder gets to choose, for instance, music 10 

composers, between ASCAP, BMI, or SESAC. 11 

  You're my agent.  You represent me, and by 12 

agreement of that representation, you and we agree, 13 

you know, roughly how much I'll get paid, in a large 14 

way, which is why it's collective administration, 15 

right.  It's licensing large catalogs of material. 16 

  A rogue collecting society is one in which 17 

a government or a quasi-government entity simply 18 

says we represent you and, in the case of the 19 

Ukrainian collecting societies, makes no payments to 20 

rights holders, but by saying we represent you, then 21 

says to their, in some cases, their related 22 
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syndicate operators of a website that says you're 1 

now licensed to play this music that we now 2 

represent. 3 

  And it's sort of an insidious, you know, 4 

combination of an unrepresenting collecting society 5 

with an unauthorized website that somehow is treated 6 

as if it's a legal entity.  And it's not in any 7 

sense of the word, not in any international norm 8 

either. 9 

  MS. PETERSON:  And you can follow up in a 10 

post-hearing submission if you'd like, or now, about 11 

what the government could be doing to address that 12 

problem specifically or -- 13 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Yeah, sure.  I mean, I -- 14 

thank you.  You know, I tried, in the testimony, to 15 

at least bullet point this is what collecting 16 

society goals -- and this is not an American goal.  17 

This is worldwide. 18 

  European experts have spoken with the 19 

Ukrainians about, you know, whether it's an eventual 20 

EU-related matters or just international norm, this 21 

is what a collecting society looks like.  These are 22 
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the principles of collecting societies.  This is 1 

what you should do. 2 

  As I said, there are multiple competing 3 

drafts, draft laws right now.  One of them, which -- 4 

well, let me back up. 5 

  The history of several years ago was that 6 

there was a meeting of experts from the European 7 

Union and my longtime good friend, Mihaly Ficsor, 8 

from the WIPO, who sat with some of the Ukrainian 9 

copyright experts and drafted provisions on what 10 

collective administration could look like if they 11 

amended their law. 12 

  That draft, as I understand, has been 13 

melded into a new draft bill that was replacing, and 14 

the bill number is 4461, is now 7014.  I haven't had 15 

enough time to look at it carefully or to get input 16 

from my members or other experts overseas to know if 17 

it meets all of the goals. 18 

  On first blush, it appears to be the 19 

better of some of the other provisions in other 20 

draft laws.  But again, you know, one is getting it 21 

from this place to enactment and, two, getting it 22 
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from enactment to actually implementing the 1 

transition, from how are you -- what are you going 2 

to do with the existing 18 collecting societies that 3 

all say we still exist, to having this bill? 4 

  And how are you going to accredit the new 5 

collecting societies under this new law, and what 6 

are you going to do with all of the bad actors that 7 

are presently there, including losing their 8 

accreditation and whether or not there would ever be 9 

any prosecution of anything of that stage? 10 

  So like my colleague Kevin, I remain 11 

optimistic that this a problem that can be fixed.  12 

Most other countries of the world have collective 13 

administration.  They know how to do this.  It's not 14 

that complicated. 15 

  It's just that Ukraine has gotten itself 16 

into a bit of a mess in its current scenario, and 17 

then it has to extricate itself at -- first enact a 18 

good law that will meet the basic international 19 

principles and then extricate itself from the 20 

current scenario at the same time.  And I don't know 21 

when or how they will do that. 22 
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  MS. MATHIEU:  Are you implying or did I 1 

misunderstand you to say that the Government of 2 

Ukraine regards those collecting societies as legal 3 

entities? 4 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  I think that's a question 5 

for the next panel.  But some of these entities 6 

appear to be quasi-governmental agencies, so they 7 

are.  Some of the proposals have been to have 8 

government agencies be the collecting society, which 9 

is something that we think is -- you know, will not 10 

fix the problem. 11 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you for your 12 

testimony. 13 

  The Government of Ukraine provided 14 

information on the passage of a new law in March of 15 

this year on state support of cinematography in 16 

Ukraine, which aims to strengthen copyright and 17 

related rights enforcement against piracy, including 18 

online piracy. 19 

  What are your views of this law and its 20 

ability to meet the need for legal reform in this 21 

area? 22 
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  MR. SCHWARTZ:  So I saw that in their, the 1 

written testimony of the Government of Ukraine on 2 

the March 2017 law.  It, at least on its face, seems 3 

to address some of the problems, as they say, 4 

specifically addressing the problems under Article 5 

176 of the Criminal Code on camcording, which has 6 

been a problem in Ukraine, and also against 7 

unauthorized websites. 8 

  But I think my answer would be that I 9 

don't know of any actions taken under the new law 10 

yet.  So the question of the effectiveness of the 11 

law is one that just has to wait to see how it's 12 

actually, or if it's implemented and how effectively 13 

it's implemented, just to wait and see. 14 

  MS. SALZMAN:  You knew you would get some 15 

questions on the draft laws.  The Government of 16 

Ukraine's written submission noted four draft bills 17 

related to the copyright management organizations.  18 

Has IIPA reviewed these bills, and do any of them 19 

have the potential to address the serious CMO 20 

deficiencies that IIPA and the U.S. government have 21 

been identifying for several years? 22 
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  MR. SCHWARTZ:  So the answer is, I haven't 1 

thoroughly reviewed them.  I saw them.  They came 2 

in, at least one of them, in the submission 10 days 3 

ago.  I will say that, unlike in years past, the 4 

Government of Ukraine, for whatever reason, has been 5 

less forthcoming in sharing drafts with us on these 6 

laws. 7 

  Now, they've been working, I know, with 8 

some of the European law experts, as I said, but 9 

that was some years ago, and again last March with 10 

some of the experts in sort of redrafting their law.  11 

It looks, on its face, as if two of the drafts would 12 

be extremely unhelpful. 13 

  Again, these are, you know, favoring 14 

individuals or organizations that already exist.  15 

It's, you know, which collecting society of the 18 16 

is going to win the lottery and which one isn't, and 17 

doesn't necessarily meet those principles of 18 

transparency and fair governance. 19 

  One of the drafts, at least, as I said, on 20 

a very preliminary review, looks to be better than 21 

the others, but I think we'll withhold judgment. 22 
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  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you, Mr. Schwartz.   1 

  Your submission outlined numerous gaps in 2 

Ukraine's laws and practices related to the 3 

protection and enforcement of intellectual property 4 

rights.  In terms of timing and immediate results, 5 

what accomplishment, in your view, can the 6 

Government of Ukraine realistically make in the 7 

short term? 8 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, having spent 18 years 9 

working on this issue -- actually longer, since I 10 

worked on the 1993 trade agreement -- what is that?  11 

Twenty-four years.  Short-term is a relative term, I 12 

suppose, for me. 13 

  In the very short term, and very 14 

realistically, what could they do?  Well, one, with 15 

input from experts in other countries, adopt and 16 

properly implement a collective administration law 17 

that properly, fairly implements collective 18 

administration and shut down the rogue agencies.  19 

That's one. 20 

  Two, in digital enforcement, engage in a 21 

coordinated effort of agencies and properly finance 22 
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and fund and support those efforts.  I think some of 1 

the problems in the past have been they've set up 2 

units to address digital piracy and then never 3 

staffed them, never funded them, never gave them 4 

really the -- never showed the willingness to 5 

actually want to engage in effective enforcement. 6 

  Those aren't things that you can quantify 7 

necessarily, other than to say that they're engaging 8 

in effective enforcement and not this sporadic, you 9 

know, years after notifications about rogue sites or 10 

services, taking one down at a time and saying, look 11 

what we've done, we've taken down this one site. 12 

  That's nothing systematic about it.  13 

There's nothing that makes a significant change in 14 

the marketplace. 15 

  So the short term would be, you know, fix 16 

the collective administration law.  They've had, you 17 

know, multiple years.  This was part of the U.S. 18 

government's action plan in 2010, now seven years.  19 

The drafting of the laws with the Europeans took 20 

place four years ago. 21 

  So they had the draft laws.  They know 22 
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what changes needed to be made.  And on coordinating 1 

enforcement, this has been an issue that both the 2 

U.S. government and the copyright industries, 3 

locally and the IIPA, have brought to their 4 

attention for many years.  They could start that 5 

tomorrow. 6 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Along those lines, in your 7 

view, are there other ways Ukraine could demonstrate 8 

its commitment to meeting the GSP IP criteria? 9 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, we identify, you 10 

know, a lot of other issues, including the market 11 

access issues now that impact the motion picture 12 

industry.  I'm not really sure what the purposes of 13 

these laws are, other than it seems to punish non-14 

Ukrainian filmmakers and distributors. 15 

  So eliminate those notions, but also 16 

engage in the effective enforcement, using criminal 17 

and administrative provisions.  Sometimes the 18 

criminal provisions seem to be too burdensome or 19 

less of a priority for some prosecutors, so use your 20 

administrative remedies, which are easier to do. 21 

  You know, if there needs to be regulations 22 
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or licenses that have to be issued for certain types 1 

of businesses, don't issue them.  Use the tax laws 2 

for these ill-gotten gains to go after some of these 3 

businesses. 4 

  I mean, there are a lot of methods.  5 

They're not a country in any way that's unique with 6 

problems of digital piracy or enforcement.  They've 7 

gotten lots and lots of recommendations and lots of 8 

offers of help over many years to address these 9 

issues that other countries confront and other 10 

countries, Central and Western Europe, have both 11 

identified and addressed.  You know, follow their 12 

lead and do the same things that they're doing. 13 

  MR. CULLINANE:  IIPA's written submission 14 

notes that copyright industries are suffering 15 

millions of dollars in losses in the Ukrainian 16 

market due to piracy.  Can you provide more 17 

information on this figure? 18 

  For example, is there a breakdown of 19 

losses by industry, sector, whether it be music, 20 

movie, games, publishing?  And are those losses 21 

attributable equally to online and physical piracy? 22 
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  MR. SCHWARTZ:  So as I noted in answer to 1 

an earlier question, we no longer do the breakdowns.  2 

We used to, in our 301 reports, for many years have 3 

charts of the breakdowns by industry and book 4 

publishing, music, both when it was publishing and 5 

sound recordings, motion pictures, and video games. 6 

  We no longer do those.  It's somewhat more 7 

difficult to do in the digital era than it was in 8 

the hard copy era.  We, again, know what our 9 

revenues are in a country where there's a large 10 

consumption of digital materials and little revenue 11 

to show for it, and then comparable countries and 12 

markets with comparable economies, again, because 13 

the pricing differs locally or can differ locally. 14 

  So you can just know, you know, what 15 

you're not doing in a country that are obviously 16 

large consumers of music and films and books and 17 

video games, based on the statistics. 18 

  Some of the industries, most notably, I 19 

believe the recorded sound industry has done 20 

breakdowns of markets by country.  And I think 21 

those, that data is publicly available from the 22 
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IFPI, for instance.  So you can get a breakdown of 1 

what both revenues are and what they would see 2 

comparably in another country in the region, as what 3 

it should be. 4 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Your original petition 5 

raised concerns with software piracy and the 6 

Government of Ukraine's failure to procure legal 7 

software.  Your submission and remarks did not raise 8 

that issue again. 9 

  Can you provide any insights into the 10 

software piracy situation in Ukraine?  Has the 11 

situation improved, or is this no longer a concern 12 

of your organization? 13 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  It was for a long time a 14 

concern of the IIPA, when the BSA was a member of 15 

the IIPA.  The BSA has now started doing work in 16 

this area on its own and not with IIPA, so I think 17 

that's a question for them, far as I know, because 18 

they did a lot of work in this area for them, for 19 

the IIPA. 20 

  The software legalization, a longstanding 21 

problem of government ministries using software 22 
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without authorization, years of the government 1 

saying that it would allocate some monies to replace 2 

unauthorized software with authorized software and 3 

then not coming through on its promises. 4 

  But in the last two years, I honestly 5 

don't have any new information, and I would suggest 6 

that you ask BSA or more specifically Microsoft 7 

whether this is still a concern.  My guess is that 8 

the answer's going to be yes. 9 

  Whether there have been improvements, I 10 

don't know the answer to that. 11 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you.  Can you tell me 12 

what BSA stands for? 13 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Business Software Alliance. 14 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 15 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well, thank you very 16 

much for your very helpful testimony and responses 17 

to our questions, Mr. Schwartz. 18 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  So I would ask that the 20 

representatives of the Government of Ukraine now 21 

step forward. 22 
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  MR. TARASIUK:  Hello.  Good afternoon, the 1 

Chairman, distinguished panel.  My name is Vitalii 2 

Tarasiuk.  I am the Head of Economic and Trade 3 

Office of the Embassy of Ukraine to the United 4 

States of America. 5 

  On behalf of the Government of Ukraine, I 6 

would like to express my respect to the panel.  The 7 

IPR is one of the top priorities for the Government 8 

of Ukraine and is one of the most important issues.  9 

So, yes, Ukraine values your cooperation. 10 

  The IPR will be one of the topics at the 11 

upcoming intergovernmental U.S.-Ukraine Trade and 12 

Investment Council on October 3 in Kiev, in the 13 

capital. 14 

  Today I would like to highlight the five 15 

most important IPR issues that the Government of 16 

Ukraine addresses.  The first one is the reform of 17 

the system of state administration in the 18 

intellectual property rights area.  The second is 19 

trends in IPR protection in Ukraine.  The third is 20 

addressing internet piracy with corporate law 21 

enforcement.  The fourth is legalization of the 22 
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software used by the government lawyers.  And the 1 

fifth is a sphere of collective management practice. 2 

  On the first one, I would like to inform 3 

that reform of the system of state administration of 4 

IPR is listed in the top priorities of the 5 

government.  In particular, this was approved in the 6 

action plan of the government for 2017. 7 

  According to this plan, the government 8 

approved the concept of reforming the state system 9 

of legal protection of intellectual property in 10 

Ukraine, or IP concept. 11 

  This concept was developed in close 12 

cooperation with the U.S. Embassy in Ukraine, the 13 

American Chamber of Commerce, European Business 14 

Association, as well as with scientific and expert 15 

institutions. 16 

  Under this plan, reform of state 17 

intellectual property service of Ukraine has been 18 

liquidated.  All functions of the state policy in 19 

the IPR sphere have been transferred to the Ministry 20 

of Economic Development and Trade of Ukraine.  The 21 

Ministry will cover all IPR-related issues until the 22 
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national IP office is established. 1 

  The key elements of IPR reform consist of 2 

three things, first, institutional changes that 3 

envisage improvement of the government system 4 

related to the IPR issues. 5 

  The second is approximation of all 6 

national IPR legislation with existing EU standards, 7 

according to the EU-Ukraine Association Agreement. 8 

  The third is the reorganization of 9 

existing system of collective management.  The 10 

practical implementation of the status will increase 11 

the efficiency of public management of IPR-related 12 

issues and will result in the establishment of 13 

single window for issuance of patents and 14 

simplification of all related procedures. 15 

  The second area is transforming IPR 16 

protection, is closely related to judicial reform 17 

and legislation.  The law in Ukraine on the judicial 18 

system and status of judges was adopted by the 19 

Parliament of Ukraine on June 2nd, 2016, and signed 20 

by the President on July 16, 2016. 21 

  This law entered into force on September 22 
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30th last year.  The law sets the new structure for 1 

the courts in Ukraine, and the assessment and 2 

recruitment of the judges. 3 

  According to the law, the High Court on 4 

Intellectual Property Issues will be created by 5 

September 30th of this year, which will be a 6 

specialized court of first instance on IPR issues. 7 

  This will positively affect the quality of 8 

litigation on the IPR issues and significantly 9 

shorten their consideration.  Moreover, it will 10 

avoid the worst law enforcement practice and unify 11 

the judicial practice. 12 

  The Government of Ukraine has approved and 13 

submitted to the Parliament several draft laws which 14 

are related to the IPR issues.  In particular, there 15 

are laws on patent control, industrial design and 16 

trademarks, on customs procedures regarding IPR 17 

protection, and geographical indications, on 18 

topographies and on semiconductor products, from 19 

copyright and related rights. 20 

  Moreover, draft law on amendments to 21 

certain legislative acts of Ukraine regarding 22 
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harsher punishment and stronger enforcement of 1 

rights in the intellectual property area has been 2 

improved by the state authorities.  This draft law 3 

provides harsher criminal liabilities for IPR-4 

related violations. 5 

  In the framework of full-scale 6 

implementation of the EU-Ukraine Association 7 

Agreement, the Ministry of Economic Development and 8 

Trade of Ukraine is finalizing the draft law on 9 

amendments to certain legislative acts regarding 10 

regulation of copyright and related rights issues. 11 

  At the same time, the Ministry considers 12 

the possibility of cancellation of phonographic 13 

marking of the copies of audiovisual works, 14 

phonograms, videograms, computer software, and 15 

databases, the effectiveness of which was called 16 

into question by the International Property 17 

Alliance. 18 

  When we're talking about addressing the 19 

internet piracy, it is very important to underline 20 

that on March 23rd, 2017, the Parliament of Ukraine 21 

has adopted and on April 20th, 2017, the President 22 
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has signed the law of Ukraine on the state support 1 

of cinematography in Ukraine. 2 

  This law introduces effective mechanisms 3 

to stop infringements of copyrights and related 4 

rights, strengthens copyrights enforcement, and 5 

fights against piracy in developing sphere. 6 

  In particular, the law permits deletion or 7 

blockage of access to content posted in violation of 8 

copyright and related rights.  It also holds both 9 

owners and information intermediaries liable for 10 

failure to comply with requirement to delete illegal 11 

content. 12 

  The provisions of the law introduce 13 

criminal prosecution for copyright piracy and 14 

related rights infringement.  The law also extends 15 

sanctions for administrative infringements in the 16 

sphere of copyright and related rights, so amending 17 

the code of Ukraine on administrative infringements. 18 

  On legislation of the software, I would 19 

like to mention that in 2016, the total value of 20 

procured software products by central executive 21 

authorities was $2.8 million.  In 2017 financial 22 
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plans of central executive authorities of Ukraine 1 

allocate almost $3 million for purchase of 2 

additional license software. 3 

  Moreover, in 2016 state-owned enterprises 4 

have spent about $5.6 million U.S. on new legal 5 

software products.  In 2017 many of them are going 6 

to purchase additional software. 7 

  The legalization initiatives are ongoing 8 

at the moment.  A memorandum of cooperation with 9 

Microsoft has been prepared.  It provides for 10 

cooperation on modern technologies, e-governance, 11 

fighting corruption, tax and customs services, 12 

health care, and on software legalization.  The 13 

document will be implemented in the nearest future. 14 

  In 2017 the Parliament of Ukraine has 15 

registered a number of draft laws regarding an 16 

improvement of collective management system, in 17 

particular, draft law and amendments to the law of 18 

Ukraine on copyrights and related rights regarding 19 

collective management organization, Number 7014, 20 

from the 1st of August 2017, draft law and 21 

amendments to the law of Ukraine on copyright and 22 



394 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

related rights regarding collective management 1 

organization, Number 7014/1 from 17 August 2017, and 2 

the draft law on collective management of 3 

properties, authors, and related rights, Number 7029 4 

from 17 of August of this year. 5 

  The Ministry of Economic Development and 6 

Trade of Ukraine is preparing its proposals and 7 

comments to the mentioned draft laws, with the 8 

purpose of establishing a transparent mechanism for 9 

the collection, distribution, and payment of 10 

remuneration to copyright and related rights. 11 

  At the same time, prior to the passage of 12 

the relevant laws, we have taken steps to stop an 13 

uncontrolled growth in the number of CMOs on the 14 

market. 15 

  The action has taken the form of a joint 16 

order by the Ministry of Economic Development and 17 

Trade of Ukraine and the Ministry of Education and 18 

Science of Ukraine, entitled "On Amendments to the 19 

Procedure of Keeping Record of Collective Management 20 

Entities and of Supervision of their Operations." 21 

  Once this regulation has been approved in 22 
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2016, no new collective management entities may be 1 

registered until the new law is passed. 2 

  Special attention is paid to the 3 

implementation of new quality standards applicable 4 

to collective management entities, as exemplified by 5 

the state organization Ukrainian Agency of Copyright 6 

and Related Rights, UACRR. 7 

  UACRR continues to disclose on its 8 

official website inaccurate information about its 9 

operations, particularly in terms of allocations of 10 

authors' royalties.  In 2016 UACRR collected 11 

$1,832,000 U.S.  That's 23 percent more than in 12 

2015, which is a record for the Ukrainian market. 13 

  In 2016 UACRR transferred, paid out 14 

remuneration for rights holders in the amount of 15 

$1,160,000 U.S., including to foreign rights 16 

holders.  According to the information provided by 17 

some private CMOs, the total amount of the payments 18 

to U.S. rights holders during 2016 and the beginning 19 

of 2017 was $179,000 U.S. 20 

  These payments have been received by 21 

several companies such as Sony Music Entertainment, 22 
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LLC; Warner Music Ukraine, as a licensee of Warner 1 

Music Group, LLC; UMG Music, as licensee of Sony 2 

Music Publishing; private company Setova Muzika 3 

(ph.) as licensee of Universal Music Publishing. 4 

  The Government of Ukraine seeks to 5 

continue to provide a timely response to violations 6 

of law by CMOs and to undertake timely preventive 7 

measures.  During 2016 through the beginning of 8 

2017, organizations suspected of committing legal 9 

violations were issued six warnings. 10 

  Action was taken against three 11 

organizations in the form of a temporary ban on 12 

operations, and registration of one collective 13 

management organization was cancelled. 14 

  CMO management of intellectual properties:  15 

According to the action plan for implementation of 16 

the concept of reforming the state system of legal 17 

protection of intellectual property in Ukraine, a 18 

new collective management organization shall be 19 

established in public and transparent manner through 20 

transformation of the state organization, Ukrainian 21 

Agency of Copyright and Related Rights, into 22 
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nongovernmental collective management organization 1 

responsible for collection of royalties. 2 

  I should underline that all of our 3 

mentioned actions to address IPR issues in Ukraine 4 

have been taken by the government despite ongoing 5 

Russian aggression that sustainably limits our 6 

abilities to allocate resources on the important 7 

issue. 8 

  Nevertheless, IPR remains a top priority 9 

to the Government of Ukraine and a very important 10 

issue in our bilateral cooperation with the United 11 

States.   12 

  Thank you for this opportunity to testify 13 

here today. 14 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you very much for 15 

your testimony.  So we'll now move on to questions 16 

and answers. 17 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Okay.  So just a short 18 

introductory remark that, again, the IIPA filed its 19 

petition in 2011, and in 2013 Ukraine was designated 20 

a Priority Foreign Country under the Special 301 21 

report. 22 
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  As described in that report and as 1 

reiterated annually in reports from 2014 to 2017, 2 

the United States has three priority concerns, and 3 

those are: number one, the unfair, non-transparent 4 

administration of the system for collective 5 

management organizations; number two, the widespread 6 

use of unlicensed software by Ukrainian government 7 

agencies; and number three, the failure to implement 8 

an effective means to combat widespread online 9 

copyright infringement. 10 

  So our questions today from this panel are 11 

going to be focused on those three issues, and I'll 12 

turn it over to my State colleague. 13 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you very much for 14 

your testimony today. 15 

  Your written submission acknowledges 16 

considerable legislative restrictions and 17 

shortcomings regarding registration and supervision 18 

of collective management organizations.  One 19 

organization, which was suspected of violating 20 

Ukrainian law and whose registration was cancelled, 21 

was able to reestablish its registration status this 22 
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year. 1 

  Do any of the draft collective management 2 

organization laws address these legislative 3 

shortcomings? 4 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Well, as I said in my 5 

statement, that the Ministry of Economic Development 6 

and Trade right now are examining all of those draft 7 

laws and preparing the government position on them.  8 

And I think we will be able to address your question 9 

then in more detail in the post-hearing comment. 10 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Okay.  Thank you very 11 

much. 12 

  MS. PETERSON:  The Government of Ukraine 13 

submission also discusses the action plan for IP 14 

reform and specifically notes Item 2.7 to establish 15 

a new collective rights management organization by 16 

transforming the state organization, the Ukrainian 17 

Agency of Copyright and Related Rights, into a 18 

nongovernmental organization. 19 

  What steps are needed to transform the 20 

state CMO into a private entity, and what is the 21 

timeline for that transformation? 22 
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  MR. TARASIUK:  Well, I think I won't be 1 

able to answer it right now, so we know we'll 2 

clarify it with the Government of Ukraine, and we'll 3 

give you more details in our post-hearing comments 4 

about that. 5 

  MS. PETERSON:  Thank you. 6 

  MS. MATHIEU:  The Government of Ukraine's 7 

written submission provides information in the form 8 

of dollar amounts on software procurement by federal 9 

agencies and state-owned enterprises. 10 

  What procedures are in place to ensure 11 

that resellers who win government tenders provide 12 

genuine product?  Are there mechanisms in place, 13 

such as audits or software asset management 14 

programs, to ensure ongoing compliance? 15 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Well, thank you for this 16 

question.  It's duly noted, and we will answer it in 17 

the post-hearing comment. 18 

  MS. SALZMAN:  Thank you for your 19 

testimony. 20 

  The government submission describes the 21 

law and state support of cinematography in Ukraine, 22 



401 

 

Free State Reporting, Inc. 

1378 Cape St. Claire Road 

Annapolis, MD 21409 

(410) 974-0947 

 

which was adopted by Parliament of Ukraine on March 1 

23rd, 2017.  Has this law gone into effect, and if 2 

not, when will it go into effect? 3 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Yes.  As I said in my 4 

statement, the law was signed by the President on 5 

April 20th, 2017.  And it's enacted.  It's in a -- 6 

it's completely operational. 7 

  MS. SALZMAN:  Sorry, follow-up question. 8 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Sure. 9 

  MS. SALZMAN:  So since it's been enacted, 10 

what have the results been to date?  And what 11 

feedback has the government received from rights 12 

holders and other stakeholders? 13 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Well, I'm not aware of the 14 

comments from the other organizations as regards the 15 

law.  But when this law was prepared, it was in -- 16 

all organization, European and American, were 17 

consulted on its provisions. 18 

  So, but with regards to the implementation 19 

phase, we will have to clarify that, and we'll 20 

address it in our post-hearing comments. 21 

  MR. KARAWA:  Thank you for your presence 22 
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today. 1 

  How is the Cyber Police Department that 2 

was established in 2012 performing?  Is cyber IP 3 

crime part of the Cyber Police Department's mandate?  4 

Is the department adequately funded; in other words, 5 

they have enough resources and staff?  What have 6 

been the successes to date? 7 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Thank you for this 8 

question.  We will have to clarify this, and we'll 9 

answer it in post-hearing comments. 10 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you.   11 

  For our last question, we would like to 12 

give you the floor to highlight any other legal 13 

reforms or enforcement efforts that address the 14 

three priority issues: collective management 15 

organizations, legalization of government software, 16 

and online piracy. 17 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Thank you for this 18 

question.  I think, you know, I have addressed this 19 

in my statement here, so maybe just in a nutshell:   20 

  So on piracy, there was the new law on 21 

state support for cinematography in Ukraine, adopted 22 
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and enacted into law.  It has all of the provisions 1 

that allows the government to enforce the internet 2 

piracy. 3 

  And on one other issues, and I've also 4 

mentioned in my statement, that the government has 5 

reviewed draft laws on collective management 6 

organization, has a plan on what should be the 7 

outcome of that, as I said, establishment of a 8 

nongovernment body that will be responsible for the 9 

collective management in Ukraine. 10 

  And with regard to the software 11 

legalization and use by the government parties, as I 12 

said, the memorandum with Microsoft has been 13 

prepared that has all of those and the provisions 14 

how we move forward with that. 15 

  And this is one step, with this regard, 16 

and the other is the government is allocating money 17 

and is increasing every year for purchases of legal 18 

software.  And state-owned enterprises are 19 

purchasing regularly, you know.  We have numbers in 20 

my statement.  All right. 21 

  MR. CULLINANE:  Thank you. 22 
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  MR. TARASIUK:  Thank you. 1 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well, thank you very 2 

much for your testimony and your responses to our 3 

questions.  We will provide you in writing with what 4 

our questions were, to facilitate your responses in 5 

post-hearing to a number of questions. 6 

  MR. TARASIUK:  Thank you so much. 7 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Thank you. 8 

  So now I would ask Mr. Schwartz to come 9 

forward again to talk about IPR issues with another 10 

country that starts with a U, Uzbekistan, in this 11 

case. 12 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you. 13 

  The International Intellectual Property 14 

Alliance appreciates this opportunity to appear 15 

today to discuss Uzbekistan and GSP eligibility and 16 

our longstanding copyright concerns in Uzbekistan. 17 

  The IIPA first filed this petition in 18 

1999.  I also filed that petition.  Eighteen years 19 

later, the Government of Uzbekistan is still not 20 

complying with the eligibility requirements for GSP 21 

benefits. 22 
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  IIPA recommends that the GSP Subcommittee 1 

should terminate this review and investigation and 2 

remove Uzbekistan's eligibility to participate until 3 

such time as it has achieved adequate and effective 4 

protection of intellectual property rights as 5 

required in the 1974 Trade Act. 6 

  In fundamental ways, Uzbekistan's 7 

copyright regime is missing basic components to 8 

provide any, much less adequate, protection.  Since 9 

the last GSP hearing and review by the U.S. 10 

government on this petition in 2013, Uzbekistan, to 11 

our knowledge, has neither revised its copyright law 12 

nor changed its international treaty status. 13 

  At present, Uzbekistan is not a member of 14 

any sound recording, that is, neighboring rights 15 

treaty, such as the Geneva Phonograms Convention of 16 

1971 or the WIPO Performances and Phonograms Treaty, 17 

the WPPT of 1996, and thus, Uzbekistan does not 18 

provide any protection or rights for U.S. or other 19 

foreign sound recordings. 20 

  The Government of Uzbekistan has 21 

essentially ignored all attempts to improve its 22 
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copyright protection and enforcement or to comply 1 

with its bilateral commitments to the U.S. 2 

government and has ignored these GSP review 3 

hearings. 4 

  I know, because not only did I file the 5 

1999 petition, but I've testified many times on 6 

these same problems, which have gone unchanged.  I 7 

testified in November of '05, October of '07, April 8 

of '09, March 2013, the last time. 9 

  Uzbekistan is not now and never has 10 

provided adequate and effective protection or 11 

enforcement, a prerequisite for GSP benefits.  In 12 

short, Uzbekistan's not meeting mid-1990s 13 

international copyright norms, nor have they 14 

complied with the trade agreement completed in 1993 15 

with the United States, which granted them most 16 

favored nation now and normal trade relation status. 17 

  Here's a fundamental question for the GSP 18 

Subcommittee.  If a country provides no protection 19 

for American sound recordings, that is, recorded 20 

music, how is it providing adequate and effective 21 

protection?  That's the current 2017 legal status in 22 
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Uzbekistan and since we filed this petition 18 years 1 

ago. 2 

  If no protection is adequate and 3 

effective, then the GSP statute has no meaning.  The 4 

1993 bilateral trade agreement with the United 5 

States required Uzbekistan to adhere to the Geneva 6 

Phonograms Convention.  As I mentioned, this was an 7 

early 1970s multilateral treaty to provide basic 8 

protections for foreign sound recordings.  They 9 

never adhered. 10 

  So there's no what's called "point of 11 

attachment" in copyright terms for U.S. recordings, 12 

none.  Nor have they adhered to the digital version, 13 

the WPPT, which is a mid-1990s treaty, which of 14 

course would now be the much-preferred alternative 15 

or companion to Geneva Phonograms, 20 years after 16 

that treaty was completed. 17 

  Nor have they adhered to the other digital 18 

copyright treaty, the WIPO copyright treaty, also 19 

from 1996, that covers works, that is films, books, 20 

musical compositions, entertainment software, that 21 

is video games, and business software, that is, 22 
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computer programs. 1 

  There are other egregious examples of 2 

Uzbekistan simply ignoring international norms and 3 

more precisely U.S. commitments and obligations.  4 

Twelve years after agreeing to join the Berne 5 

Convention, the number one commitment of the 1993 6 

trade agreement with the United States, Uzbekistan 7 

finally joined Berne. 8 

  This was a positive step, but let's put it 9 

in perspective.  Berne is a 1972 international 10 

copyright treaty.  It predates the digital era, and 11 

it lacks fundamental rights and protections for the 12 

digital era. 13 

  To make matters worse, when Uzbekistan 14 

finally did join Berne in 2005, they took a 15 

reservation on Article 18 that denied protection for 16 

pre-existing works from the United States and all 17 

other Berne countries.  That step denied protection 18 

for all American works, all books, films, musical 19 

compositions, video games before 2005. 20 

  The reservation, as noted by WIPO and 21 

other copyright experts to the Government of 22 
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Uzbekistan at the time, was in contravention to 1 

Article 18 obligations of Berne, as well as the 1993 2 

bilateral agreement, which specifically addressed 3 

Article 18 of the Berne Convention. 4 

  Three years ago, and only three years ago, 5 

in January 2014, the Government of Uzbekistan 6 

withdrew its reservation, a positive step, but still 7 

one that only supplies 1970s era protection for 8 

American works.  And they've made no attempt to 9 

revise or modernize their laws in over a decade.  I 10 

believe the last time was 2006. 11 

  For 17 years, Uzbekistan has been on the 12 

U.S. Trade Representatives watch list for inadequate 13 

copyright protection and enforcement.  The most 14 

recent 301 report last April, in announcing their 15 

attention on the watch list, noted, quote, "little 16 

progress to improve its IP regime or significantly 17 

enhancing its enforcement efforts," close quotes. 18 

  So what changes are needed in Uzbekistan 19 

to be adequate and effective and to modernize their 20 

laws?  At the 2005 GSP hearing, the U.S. government 21 

asked the IIPA, that is, me, to provide a short list 22 
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of major IPR shortcomings. 1 

  The quote from the letter, and I found it, 2 

said, "steps that the Government of Uzbekistan 3 

should take with respect to protecting IPR in order 4 

to retain GSP eligibility."  In the IIPA's post-5 

hearing submission, December 2005, we provided that 6 

list to you and to the Government of Uzbekistan, 7 

limiting it to eight items, to keep it simple. 8 

  Twelve years later, they've taken two of 9 

the eight steps.  Our list of items that the 10 

Government of Uzbekistan needs to take are spelled 11 

out in our written submission.  We've added a little 12 

more detail to the 2005 list, in part because they 13 

did make changes to their national law in 2006, 14 

without consultation with American or European or 15 

WIPO copyright experts, so they took some steps 16 

backwards in their copyright law. 17 

  But the list is more or less the same as 18 

it was in 2005.  In the interest of time, I won't 19 

read it, but it is in our written submission. 20 

  In short, Uzbekistan is not eligible for 21 

GSP benefits until or unless it makes fundamental 22 
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changes to its copyright legal regime.   1 

  I'd be happy to answer any questions that 2 

you have.  Thank you. 3 

  MS. PETERSON:  Your submission outlined 4 

numerous gaps in Uzbekistan's laws and practices 5 

related to the protection and enforcement of 6 

intellectual property rights, and put it in context.  7 

In terms of timing and immediate results, what 8 

accomplishments, in your view, can the Government of 9 

Uzbekistan realistically make in the short term? 10 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  Our list here only includes 11 

black-letter law changes.  You'll notice that, you 12 

know, our list is amend this law, adhere to this 13 

treaty.  I mean, Geneva Phonograms treaty is sending 14 

a letter to the Secretariat of the treaty, or more 15 

precisely, to WIPO for the digital treaties, which 16 

they could do tomorrow or today for that matter. 17 

  That would be immediate.  Just join the 18 

treaties.  Now, implementing it in their national 19 

laws is going to require black-letter law changes.  20 

That's what we spell out.  This is not something 21 

that is new or novel to them to do. 22 
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  Again, to the question I got asked in 1 

Ukraine about immediate changes, I suppose I take 2 

the long view, and the reason is, I remember well in 3 

November of 2000 when I was asked by the U.S. 4 

government to redline existing laws of Uzbekistan, 5 

copyright, customs, civil code, civil procedure 6 

code, criminal procedure code. 7 

  We did that, along with other experts that 8 

were providing advice.  So this wasn't an IIPA wish 9 

list.  This was just international norms of what 10 

American, European, other countries' laws would look 11 

like. 12 

  They made no changes in their laws at that 13 

time, after promising that they would make the 14 

changes.  There was something happened, and I 15 

remember it because of a family incident, that it 16 

was going to be the next month they were going to 17 

make these changes.  That was December of 2000, 18 

okay, so we're talking 17 years ago. 19 

  So they have that, or if they don't, I 20 

probably have that in file.  If they wanted to make 21 

those changes, these are -- you know, obviously 22 
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these are parliamentary changes.  You can't have 1 

enforcement and talk to them about doing -- taking 2 

enforcement actions if they don't have basic 3 

protections. 4 

  When American sound recording isn't 5 

protected at all in the country, how are we going to 6 

tell them to engage in enforcement against piracy of 7 

sound recordings?  It's not illegal.  They don't 8 

even protect them.  So you got to have the black-9 

letter law, which is why our bullet points -- and 10 

then correct some of the deficiencies. 11 

  In the 2006 law, when we were -- and the 12 

"we" was a collection of copyright experts.  This 13 

was not IIPA; WIPO experts, my friend Mihaly Ficsor 14 

and I, others in Europe were saying, here are the 15 

basic norms to be compliant with, you know, then 16 

2005 laws. 17 

  And instead of following those, they made 18 

some of their own changes, as I said.  And some of 19 

them are either unclear, or some of them were sort 20 

of what we'd consider backwards steps to take. 21 

  So that's why we've added a bullet point 22 
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on correcting deficiencies and uncertainties in the 1 

copyright law of '06. 2 

  MS. SALZMAN:  Thank you.   3 

  In your view, are there other ways that 4 

Uzbekistan could demonstrate its sincerity and 5 

commitment to meeting the GSP IP criteria? 6 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  I can't think of anything 7 

other than joining the WPPT, the digital copyright 8 

treaty.  I mean, Geneva Phonograms is so long in the 9 

tooth at this point, it only provides a reproduction 10 

right.  If you know anything about the music 11 

industry, reproduction right is yesterday's news.  12 

It's all about streaming and distribution. 13 

  So join the WPPT.  Send a letter to the 14 

Secretariat of the WIPO and say we're members.  Is 15 

anyone going to hold them -- you know, there's not 16 

really dispute settlement in those treaties to say, 17 

well, you're not in complete compliance, and then 18 

enact, you know, make the changes in your laws to be 19 

compliant. 20 

  But if you were going to do a two-step 21 

dance, that would be the first step of the dance, 22 
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and two would be implement the changes in your laws 1 

to be compliant with the digital treaties. 2 

  Other countries in the CIS have done it, 3 

not all of them.  You know, Turkmenistan maybe 4 

hasn't, but most of the others have.  There's plenty 5 

of laws, you know, in language, where you have 6 

someone -- you know, they have had plenty of 7 

opportunities with experts, plenty of opportunities 8 

to have translations of the laws to do it. 9 

  You notice -- I mean, they don't submit 10 

testimony at these hearings.  They don't make the 11 

changes.  The 1993 NTR agreement was the first to 12 

state that they had to join Geneva Phonograms and 13 

had to do it -- I believe they had a one-year 14 

period.  You know, that one, my memory's very rusty, 15 

but I was at the U.S. Copyright Office at the time, 16 

and one of the negotiators of the agreement and the 17 

other CIS agreements. 18 

  So, you know, these countries, they were 19 

given due time to make changes.  They were sitting 20 

with experts at the time.  That's '93.  This is 21 

2017.  And they're getting these benefits.  Look, 22 
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it's not much in GSP benefits we're talking about, 1 

$3 million.  But they're not eligible. 2 

  And if the rule of law means anything on 3 

the Trade Act, they're ineligible.  Period. 4 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Are content losses in 5 

industry attributable equally to online and physical 6 

piracy in Uzbekistan? 7 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  We have no idea what the 8 

marketplace in Uzbekistan is at the moment.  Again, 9 

if they're not providing any protection for American 10 

recordings -- we're not there, at least not there 11 

legally.  We have no idea what the marketplace looks 12 

like or what our marketplace might look like. 13 

  You know, some of this is just sort of 14 

playing defense and making sure that a country that 15 

at least potentially could be a major source of 16 

piracy -- whether they are or not, I'm not sure that 17 

we have the metrics to know that right now. 18 

  MS. MATHIEU:  Thank you. 19 

  MS. PETERSON:  Mr. Schwartz, what in the 20 

IIPA's view is preventing the Uzbekistan IP agency 21 

from responding to content owners' concerns and 22 
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preventing them from joining the Geneva Phonograms 1 

Convention or the WIPO internet treaties through the 2 

Parliament? 3 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  In all the years, I've 4 

never heard a reason or a rationale for not doing 5 

it.  And obviously, in the 1990s, when they were 6 

wanting to have most favored nation, now NTR 7 

relations with the U.S., it was explained to them 8 

what these treaties were, what these obligations 9 

would be, and there were no objections. 10 

  I mean, maybe it was a rush to get most 11 

favored nation trade status, but other -- all the 12 

countries in the CIS signed nearly identical 13 

agreements and side letters. 14 

  So they -- you know, within the CIS, there 15 

were lots of discussions about what the obligations 16 

would mean, what it might mean locally, what it 17 

might mean to the state broadcasting organizations.  18 

In other words, we can't just put things on our 19 

television and radio stations.  We might have to ask 20 

permission from rights holders to do that.  Or we 21 

might have to pay for that. 22 
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  Those, as I recall, you know, dusting off 1 

my 25-year-old memories of it, were some of the 2 

issues at the time.  But again, that wasn't only 3 

going forward. 4 

  One of the things that was a 5 

misunderstanding -- and I think one of the reasons 6 

for Article 18 was always a misunderstanding.  The 7 

misunderstanding was if we join these treaties 8 

today, we could somehow be liable for the actions of 9 

yesterday and all those past years when we didn't 10 

provide protection. 11 

  That's, first of all, not how the treaties 12 

work, and secondly, it's not how law works.  There's 13 

no -- you know, if you join the treaty today, then 14 

yes, you would have to take down material from the 15 

day you join the treaty going forward, if it's 16 

unauthorized, but not -- there's no retroactive -- 17 

the retroactive protection only applies to works 18 

being retroactively protected. 19 

  So, you know, a 1975 album, like Born to 20 

Run would be protected in 2005, but it doesn't mean 21 

your playing it prior to that date is actionable.  22 
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And I always thought that that was the 1 

misunderstanding and something that, at least three 2 

years ago, maybe they came around to that rationale. 3 

  But that was explained to them, too.  As I 4 

said, the bilateral treaty had a specific obligation 5 

of countries, and this was signed by all the CIS 6 

countries, Russia, Ukraine included, to provide 7 

protection -- both countries would look to Article 8 

18 to provide protection for pre-existing works when 9 

they both came online to whatever would be the 10 

copyright treaty, Berne, the neighboring rights 11 

treaty, Geneva Phonograms. 12 

  And it was explained many times to the 13 

countries what that meant.  So if there was a 14 

misunderstanding or if there was a caution, 15 

certainly they have the examples of other countries 16 

in the region to see that, you know, the sky didn't 17 

fall in their joining these treaties and providing 18 

this protection. 19 

  But to the question I was asked about, you 20 

know, what are they currently broadcasting on their 21 

broadcast ministries or their radio stations, I 22 
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wouldn't know, and how much of it is non-local 1 

content, including American, I don't know. 2 

  MS. HENNINGER:  Thank you.   3 

  Has IIPA noticed any change at all in the 4 

government's stance on copyright enforcement since 5 

the elections last December? 6 

  MR. SCHWARTZ:  We're not there.  So the 7 

answer is no.  And we're not engaged in enforcement.  8 

You know, we're not on the ground.  You can't be in 9 

a marketplace that doesn't provide basic protection 10 

legally. 11 

  It's not a large marketplace, obviously, 12 

based on population, but it's also just not in 13 

place.  You're going to be -- it's possible that the 14 

software industries are doing business there, but 15 

that's not a question for IIPA but for our 16 

colleagues in Microsoft or BSA. 17 

  MR. KARAWA:  What is the assessment of 18 

IIPA regarding the lack of enforcement on copyright?  19 

Is it due more to absence of political will or 20 

constraint of capacity or expertise within the 21 

Government of Uzbekistan? 22 
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  MR. SCHWARTZ:  So it -- yeah.  I don't 1 

know what, if anything, they're doing with regards 2 

to enforcement there, but I'll answer the question 3 

with regard to legal reform.  It's got to be 4 

government willpower.  This has been noted to them, 5 

you know, for two decades and change. 6 

  They received benefits, starting in the 7 

early '90s with their normal trade relation benefits 8 

and including their GSP benefits.  In multiple years 9 

of hearings, they used to show up at these GSP 10 

hearings.  They filed a multiple hundred-page filing 11 

one year, trying to describe why, even though they 12 

weren't members of any international treaty, they 13 

could provide adequate protection to American works. 14 

  It was, to be blunt, a novel theory I've 15 

never heard in 30 years of practicing in this area 16 

of law.  And that was the last we heard from them, 17 

and they never then joined the treaties -- well, 18 

that's not true.  They joined Berne in 2005, with 19 

the reservation. 20 

  They fixed that in January 2014.  But on 21 

sound recordings, on making the changes in their law 22 
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and making no changes since 2006, not spending any 1 

time with copyright experts -- look, it doesn't have 2 

to be IIPA.  It could be U.S. government experts.  3 

It could be European government experts. 4 

  And if they want non-government experts, 5 

they could go to the WIPO, who would certainly 6 

provide them expertise about what a national law 7 

should look like to be compliant with the WIPO 8 

digital treaties. 9 

  They've done, to my knowledge, none of 10 

those things.  And when they've been asked to do it, 11 

for instance, in November of 2000, we provided it 12 

for them, and then they didn't enact the changes at 13 

all, after promising the U.S. government, and I very 14 

explicitly remember that they would do it within a 15 

month. 16 

  It was an important session of the 17 

Parliament that was going to end the next month.  18 

They were going to make these changes.  Just tell us 19 

what changes to make, and we'll make them.  Well, 20 

that's a government willpower problem, nothing else. 21 

  CHAIR HERFINDAHL:  Well, thank you for 22 
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your extensive history lesson, Mr. Schwartz, and 1 

thank you for staying till the bitter end here with 2 

us today.   3 

  So that concludes our questions, and I 4 

hereby adjourn this GSP hearing. 5 

  (Whereupon, at 3:15 p.m., the meeting was 6 

adjourned.) 7 
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